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Chairman’s Statement £ EIRE

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

As | cautioned in last year’s annual report, it has not been
plain sailing as far as recovery of the economy during the
current financial year is concerned. Indeed, throughout the
year, we have seen a number of events which have caused
various degree of turbulence in the equities market.
Unabated concerns over the sovereign debt problems in
the Eurozone; political unrests in Africa and the Middle
East; the lack of momentum of economic recovery in
the United States; surging inflation in Mainland China;
the earthquake in Japan etc, have all influenced investor
sentiments at various times during the year in review.
In the circumstances the results of our securities trading
business has been disappointing, culminating in the loss
of HK$245 million for the financial year as further detailed
in the Management Discussion and Analysis section of this
annual report.

PROSPECTS

The uncertainties created by some of the abovementioned
factors are still hovering around us as we enter a new
financial year. It can be expected that global market
conditions will remain volatile in the near term. The
Group’s current business, especially our investment trading
activities, will continue to operate under challenging
conditions in the year ahead.

Despite the above, we believe that 2011 is the year in
which the Group lays a solid foundation for its future
long term growth. Earlier in the year, we announced
our proposed acquisition of a controlling interest in
Sun Materials Technology Co., Ltd. (“Sun Materials”), a
company based in Taiwan which engages in the production
of solar grade polysilicon, the primary raw material used
in the manufacturing of solar cells in the photovoltaic
industry for generating electricity. This acquisition will mark
our Group's entry into the renewable energy industry with
tremendous growth opportunities.
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After months of painstaking work, the proposed
acquisition of Sun Materials and the related proposed
placing of the Company’s shares and convertible bonds to
fund the acquisition and the expansion of the production
capacity of Sun Materials received shareholders’ approval
at the Company’s special general meeting held on 7 June
2011. Completion of the acquisition and the placing are
expected to take place imminently.

Sun Materials deploys an innovative and patented
technology to produce solar grade polysilicon. Traditionally,
the polysilicon manufacturing process is associated
with high production costs and pollution. The patented
technology deployed by Sun Materials is capable of
significantly reducing both the manufacturing costs and
the adverse environmental impact in the production
process. The company believes that Sun Materials’
technology is a revolutionary innovation that can radically
transform the industry landscape in the renewable energy
market. Through our investment in Sun Materials, we are
optimistic that the Group will become a leading player in
the solar grade polysilicon and clean energy markets and
thus enhance the value of the Company to its shareholder.

After completion of the acquisition of Sun Materials, the
polysilicon production operation will become a new line
of business of the Group. Our business focus will include
exploring the growth potential of this new segment; and
we may consider reallocating part of the group’s resources
towards this business line in order to capture its future
development potential.

APPRECIATION

| wish to thank our shareholders, business partners and
staff for their on-going support and commitment; as
well as our former Board members for their valuable
contributions past and present.

On behalf of the Board

Peter Temple Whitelam
Chairman

29 June 2011
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Management Discussion and Analysis & & 5138 & 2

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

As anticipated in the Company’s announcement issued on
15 April 2011, the Group recorded a loss for the current
year as compared to the profit for the previous year. The
loss attributable to shareholders for the year ended 31
March 2011 amounted to HK$244.8 million, as compared
to a profit of HK$108.6 million last year. Turnover for
the year amounted to HK$103.3 million, a decrease of
approximately HK$138.6 million from the previous year.
The decrease in turnover was largely brought about by
the negative turnover of HK93.4 million derived from the
trading of securities as compared to the positive turnover
of HK$89.5 million last year; despite the increase in the
turnover of the manufacturing division to HK$189.5
million this year from HK$148.1 million for the previous
year. The basic and diluted loss per share was HK$0.1328,
as compared to the basic earnings per share of HK$0.0928
and the diluted earnings per share of HK$0.0911 for
the previous year. During the year, there was no material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, except for the
disposal set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Securities investment

Factors such as the sovereign debt problems of certain
Eurozone countries, the political unrests in Africa and
Middle East and the tightening of monetary measures
in China have all contributed to uncertainties in the
securities markets. Under such volatile conditions, the
Group’s securities trading activities registered realized and
unrealized losses totaling approximately HK$187.6 million
for the year (2010: gains of approximately HK$106.2
million).

Manufacturing

The Group’s manufacturing segment reported a
contribution of approximately HK$10.1 million for the
year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: approximately HK$5.2
million), as improvements in demands for our products
from the low levels seen in the aftermath of the global
financial tsunami in major markets such as Europe and the
United States.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & ¥ f& 51 5 & 2 #7

Loan financing

Turnover from the provision of loan financing amounted
to HK$6.0 million as compared to approximately HK$3.4
million last year. The segments’ results have however
decreased to approximately HK$5.9 million from
approximately HK$83.4 million last year, as last year's
results included an amount of HK$80.0 million reversal of
impairment allowance made previously. For the year ended
31 March 2011, no material provision or write back have
been made.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group primarily financed its operations with internally
generated cash flows and its equity during 2011. As at 31
March 2011, the Group had bank and cash balances of
approximately HK$16.8 million (31 March 2010: HK$75.7
million) and the net current assets of the Group is
HK$645.6 million (31 March 2010: HK$567.9 million). The
Group had an outstanding interest-bearing borrowings,
represented by margin facilities utilised of approximately
HK$0.5 million as of 31 March 2011. Interest-bearing
borrowings were mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollar
with interest generally chargeable at market rate, and had
maturity dates less than a year. As at 31 March 2011, the
total equity of the Group is HK$757 million (31 March
2010: HK$654.9 million). The gearing ratio of the Group,
representing total interest-bearing borrowings divided by
total equity, was 0.1% as at 31 March 2011.

CHARGE OF ASSETS

Margin facilities of HK$234,221,000 (2010:
HK$168,870,000) from three regulated securities brokers
(2010: a regulated securities broker) were granted to the
Group under which financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$546,005,000 (2010: HK$354,442,000)
were treated as collateral for the facilities granted.
Aggregate of HK$526,000 (2010: HK$ Nil) facilities were
utilised and the carrying amount of the financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss charged under the utilised
facilities to a securities broker is HK$28,588,000 (2010:
HK$ Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis & & 5138 & 2

CURRENCY RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s investments, operations and trade and loan
receivables were mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollar.
Except for manufacture and sale of goods, which are
also denominated in Euro or United States Dollar. During
the year under review, the fluctuation of the mentioned
currencies did not have a material impact on income
statement of the Group. Because of the certain operations
of the Group in China, the Group has foreign exposure
and mainly in transaction and conversion risks. The Group
will continue to take measures to minimize its foreign
exchange exposure and implement a more prudent sales
policy so as to maintaining a stable currency exchange
conditions for the manufacture and trading business.

COMMITMENT

As at 31 March 2011, the Company and the Group had
no material commitment (2010: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2011, the Company and the Group had
no material contingent liabilities (2010: Nil).

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had more than 570
employees, around 90% of them were employed in the
People’s Republic of China for the manufacturing business.
The Group remunerates its employees based on their work
performance and with reference to prevailing conditions of
labor markets.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis & & &1 5& & 2 4T

PROPOSED ACQUISITION

On 31 December 2010, the Company entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with Quinella
International Incorporated (the “Seller”), and Ms Hsieh
(the “Guarantor”) and Dr Wu (the “Covenantor”) to
purchase 50.1% of the entire allotted and issued shares of
Trifecta International Incorporated, renamed to Sun Mass
Energy Limited (the “Target”) for cash consideration of
US$150,000,000. The Target holds 100% equity interest
in Lution International Holdings Co., Ltd (“Lution”) which
holds 100% equity interest of Sun Materials Technology
Co., Ltd ("Sun Materials”) (Collectively, the “Target
Group”). Sun Materials is a limited liability company
incorporated in Taiwan and its principal business is the
manufacture of solar grade polycrystalline silicon. The
completion of the sale and purchase agreement (the
“Completion”) is subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions including the approval by the shareholders at a
special general meeting (“SGM").

On 31 December 2010, the Company entered into a call
option arrangement, which is subject to certain conditions
including the Completion has occurred, with the Seller.
In consideration of the payment of the sum of US$1, the
Seller irrevocably agreed to grant the Company an option
to buy, and to require the Seller to sell, the 4,990,000
option shares (representing 49.9% of the issued shares of
the Target at the date of arrangement), at the Company’s
absolute discretion, during the call option period (i.e.
beginning on the first business day falling 12 months
after the completion of the acquisition and ending on the
first business day falling 36 months after the completion).
Unless the Company and the Seller otherwise agree on the
purchase price, the purchase price for the option shares
shall be determined at the relevant time with reference
to the business valuation of the Target Group by an
independent valuer jointly appointed by the Company and
the Seller or in default of such arrangement, American
Appraisal China Limited, an independent valuer. As at 31
March 2011, no value of the call option was recorded in
the consolidated financial statements since the Completion
has not yet occurred.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & & 5138 & 2

On 17 January 2011, the Company entered into a
placing agreement with Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong
Branch (the “Placing Agent”) for a conditional placing of
placing shares and convertible bonds a view to raising an
aggregate amount of approximately HK$4,000,000,000
for the funding of the proposed acquisition, capital
expenditure and working capital of the Target Group etc.
On 11 February 2011, 30 March 2011 and 28 June 2011,
the Company entered into supplementary agreements with
the Placing Agent to vary and supplement the terms and
conditions of the placing agreement. In order to facilitate
this placing, it is proposed to increase the authorised
share capital of the Company from HK$1,000,000,000
divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each to
HK$2,000,000,000 divided into 20,000,000,000 shares
of HK$0.1 each by creating an additional 10,000,000,000
shares. Both of the placing and increase in authorised share
capital are subject to the approval by the shareholders at
the SGM.

On 7 March 2011, the Company entered into a facility
agreement, which is subject to certain conditions including
the approval by the shareholders at the SGM, with the
Target. Pursuant to the facility agreement, the Company
has agreed to lend to the Target a loan facility of principal
amount of up to but not exceeding US$50 million at
any time within 3 months commencing from the date
on which the last in time of the certain conditions in the
facility agreement are satisfied or waived. The facility
charges an interest rate of 12% per annum and is for the
purpose of funding the capital expenditure in respect of
the expansion of polysilicon production capacity of the
Target Group. As at 31 March 2011, the facility agreement
was still subject to the approval by the shareholders at the
SGM and accordingly the facility arrangement was not yet
effective.

Details of the above-mentioned agreements/arrangements
are contained in the Company’s circular dated 20 May
2011 and announcement dated 28 June 2011.

Subsequent to the reporting period, at the SGM of the
Company held on 7 June 2011, the above-mentioned
agreements/arrangements in connection with the proposed
acquisition of 50.1% of the Target Group were approved
by the shareholders.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management #EER S EEEASEN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Peter Temple WHITELAM, aged 82, joined the Group
on 1 August 2007 and had been appointed as Chairman
of the Board in April 2008. He is a specialist consultant in
global branding and international communications. After
graduating from Pembroke College, Oxford University, he
joined the BBC before winning a Fulbright Scholarship
to study educational radio and television in the United
States. Following four years at NBC-TV in New York, he
began a long career in advertising, creating national and
international campaigns for such clients as British Airways,
Unilever, Nabisco, ESPN, Colgate, Cadbury, General
Motors, American Express, Nomura Securities, and the
Bank of Montreal. Mr. Whitelam has worked as a creative
strategist in Boston, New York, London, Montreal, Toronto,
Tokyo and Taiwan and received international awards for his
ideas. Recently he has been developing brand strategies
both for companies and government agencies. This is
combined with his knowledge and interest in documentary
film. Mr. Whitelam has a long-time acquaintance with
Asia, having visited and worked in eight different countries
in the Asia Pacific region.

Mr. LO Yuen Wa Peter, aged 49, joined the Group in
May 2008 and was appointed as executive director and
acting Chief Executive Officer in July 2008. He studied
Accountancy and obtained his professional qualification
in the United Kingdom. He is a member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He has 25 years’ experience in auditing, accounting,
investment and financial management.

Mr. Eddie WOO, aged 39, joined the Group in March
2010. He was previously an Executive Director in the Asia
investment banking group of Oppenheimer & Co. Inc., a
North American investment bank with extensive operations
and experience in the Greater China region, and its
predecessor, CIBC World Markets. His responsibilities
included significant financing activities for Chinese and
photovoltaic companies including initial public offerings,
mergers and acquisitions, private placements and other
related advisory work.
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Eddie joined CIBC World Markets in 2000 as a technology
research analyst. In 2003, he helped start Mekong
Airlines in Cambodia, serving as a Board Director and
Chief Financial Officer before returning to CIBC during
early 2004 as a Director within the semiconductor equity
research group. Eddie received his M.B.A. from the
University of San Francisco and his bachelor’s degree from
the University of California, Santa Cruz.

Mr. SUEN Yick Lun Philip, age 42, joined the Group
in April 2011. He was also appointed as the company
secretary of the Company. He is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
is @ member of the CPA Australia and holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy from Queensland University of
Technology and Master's degree in Corporate Finance
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He has
over 15 years of experience in finance and accounting.
Prior to joining the Company, and he was responsible
for accounting and finance matters for several listed
companies in Hong Kong. During the period from 2
September 2010 to 14 March 2011, he was the Executive
Director of Freeman Financial Corporation Limited (formally
known as Freeman Corporation Limited) which is a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. LAU King Hang, aged 39 a resident of Hong
Kong with Taiwan Passport, joined the Company as an
assistant director of the Company in March 2010. He
was appointed as executive director of the Company
on 20 June 2011. He graduated from National Taiwan
University with a Bachelor’s degree in Chemistry. He is a
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Upon
completion of the acquisition of Sun Materials Technology
Co., Ltd. (Sun Materials), Mr. Lau will assist in the
operations of Sun Materials and will report to the Board
and Dr. Wu Yi-Shuen, the Chief Executive Officer of Sun
Materials. He has over 10 years of extensive management
experience in sales and marketing in high technology,
chemical industry, packaging and printing services, food
and beverage operations.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Chuang, Henry Yueheng, aged 55, joined the
Group in February 2011. He holds Master Degrees in
Petroleum Engineering and Business Administration from
the University of Southern California in the United States.
In 2007, Dubna University of Russia awarded Dr. Chuang
with an Honorary Doctorate degree in recognition of his
achievements in the field of petroleum engineering. He
studied under Professor George Chilingar, one of the
foremost experts in the field of petroleum engineering,
and had been his assistant for many years. In addition
to many years of field experience in the energy industry,
Dr. Chuang also has more than 18 years of experience in
corporate finance and development.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Frank H. MIU, aged 62, joined the Group in
December 2009. He graduated from Harvard Law School
and St. John’s University in the United States. Mr. Miu
is a member of the American Bar Association and the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Aside from about 15 years of professional experience in
accounting and law, Mr. Miu has extensive management
experience in financial services, publishing and printing,
food and chain restaurants, cold storage as well as
property-related businesses.

Dr. Agustin V. QUE, aged 64, joined the Group in January
2010. He holds Ph.D. and MBA degrees, both majoring
in Finance, from the Wharton School of the University
of Pennsylvania in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA. He
has been involved in the field of finance for more than
35 years as a private equity investor, merchant banking,
corporate and development finance professional in Jakarta,
Hong Kong, Singapore, Boston and Washington, DC. He is
currently based in Jakarta, Indonesia, where he is corporate
finance adviser responsible for mergers and acquisitions,
new investments, business development and investment
banking activities to an Indonesian holding company with
diversified interests in agribusiness, property and financial
services. Prior to Jakarta, Dr. Que worked in the financial
sector in Hong Kong for 12 years. Dr. Que started his
career in finance in Washington DC, USA with The World
Bank, over a period of 10 years. His last posting was Senior
Investment Officer in the Capital Markets Department of
the International Finance Corporation, The World Bank’s
private investment arm.
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Mr. Robert James IAIA 1l, aged 42, joined the Group
in June 2010. He holds a Bachelor of Arts from Central
Connecticut State University in the United States and has
Master degree in Real Estate from the University of Hong
Kong. Mr. laia has over 11 years’ experience in the real
estate and equities market and lived and worked in Asia
for over 20 vyears, primarily in Seoul and Hong Kong. In
addition to extensive experience in private equity real
estate, he also traded Asian equities at Samsung Securities
in Seoul and Societe Generale in New York.

Dr. Chien, Yung Nelly, aged 46, join the Group in
February 2011. She holds a Doctoral and a Master
degree in Civil Engineering from Stanford University and
a Bachelor degree in Physics from University of California,
Berkeley in United States. She provides consulting service
for evaluating, architecting and maintaining technology
based solutions and products. Her clients included Stanford
University and New York Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. CHAN Oi Ling, Maria Olimpia, aged 67, is the
founder of the Group. Ms. Chan was the chairman of the
Company up to 7 April 2008. After resignation from the
Board, Ms. Chan remains a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company so as to facilitate her to give advice and
pass on her valuable experience in the manufacturing and
sales of goods operations. Ms. Chan has over 40 years’
experience in the industry of manufacture and sale of
accessories for photographic products.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board considers that good corporate governance
practices of the Company are crucial to the smooth and
effective operation of the Group and safeguarding the
interests of the shareholders and other stakeholders. The
Company has compiled with the code provisions which set
out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code") contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing

Corporate Governance Report ¥ &8

the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) during the year ended
31 March 2011, except for certain deviations as explained

below.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of the Company currently comprised 10
including five Executive Directors, one Non-
executive Directors and four Independent Non-executive
Directors (“INEDs"”). The brief biographic details of
the directors is set out in the Directors and Senior
Management Profiles on pages 11 to 14 of this Annual
Report. The Board has established two Board Committees,
namely Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee.
The Board meets regularly to discuss on overall strategy
and review the financial and operating performance of the

directors,

Group. Attendance of Board Meetings and the meetings
of full Board Committees for the year ended 31 March

2011 is set out below:

TEERER
EEERRARANRHEERE R AAUAE
B RENENEERLAED @ WARER
LEMBKEZEANNG REBEE2 - ——
—A=+—BULHFE AR —BHEBTEBH
ABRGHERARFES FHHRE ([ LR
MfgxHPOprsk 2 B R w AT R (T5FA]) &Y
SFRMESC - MBI Pl 2 & FIRBEIERBR AN ©
EEE

ARREESBRRABTREZAN  BREAS
WITES  —RIFPTESNORB L IEHT
E=([BUFNTES]) ER - EEHEH
RAFRFNZLVENESELNGEEERAES
BN -EEGCRUMBEEEZES - 2
AEREESRFMNEES - EFC THETT
TH RERERE TR AEEZHBE K
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R

No. of meetings attended/held
L%/ BREEEAR

Board Audit Remuneration
Meeting  Committee ~ Committee
Exg EnZee FMzag
Executives Directors HTES
Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam (Chairman) Peter Temple Whitelam#t & (/%) 2230 - -
Mr. Lo Yuen Wa Peter (Acting Chief Executive Officer) ~ETTE %% (KB THER) 29/30 - -
Mr. Eddie Woo HER LA 28/30 - -
Mr. Suen Yick Lun Philip (appointed on 1 April 2011)  #xBi%E (R-2——EWA—-REZF) - - -
Mr. Lau King Hang (appointed on 20 June 2011) AYEEE
(R=—E——F X A-+HEZT) - - -
Ms. Song Jiajia (resigned on 20 June 2011) RERLLT (RZE—FXAZTHEHTD) 12/30 - -
Mr. Lam Suk Ping (resigned on 27 April 2011) MRS (F_T——¢EH_+{E|%;{ ) 30/30 _ _
Mr. Au Yeung Kai Chor (resigned on 9 April 2010) BGREE NZE-ZEFNANEET) n - -
Non-executive Director FHTES
Dr. Chuang, Henry Yueheng (Deputy-Chairman) HREEL (F2E)

(appointed on 7 February 2011) (R—Z—F B+ HEZMT) 2/2 - -
Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”)  BYFHTEE ((BUKGTES])

Mr. Frank H. Miu** BRI E 7/30 112 17
Dr. Agustin V. Que** Agustin V. QuefEt** 11/30 22 i
Mr. Robert James laia II** Robert James laia 1554 *#

(appointed on 18 June 2010) (RZZ2-ZF A+ \BEZT) 16/21 12 n
Dr. Chien, Yung Nelly (appointed on 7 February 2011) *Wﬁt (R-—ZE——%_-A+BEZT) 12 - -
Ms. Hui Wai Man, Shirley (resigned on 14 June 2010) #FE&4+ (R-Z—ZF A +MBFHE) 0/8 0/0 0/0
Mr. Chan Sze Hung (resigned on 3 May 2010) BEAE (R-E—TEF A= AR 0/8 0/0 0/0

Members of Audit Committee * EZEREEKE
# Members of Remuneration Committee # FMEEek 2
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The Board determines the overall strategies, monitors and
controls operating and financial performance, analyse
and formulate strategies to manage risks in pursuit of
the Group’s strategic objectives. The Board also decides
on matters such as annual and interim results, dividend
policy, director appointments, and significant changes
in accounting policy, material contracts and major
investments. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility of overseeing the Group's day-to-day
operations to management executives.

The Company confirmed it has received from each of
its INEDs an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and the
Company considers them to be independent.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. During the
year, Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam acted as the Company’s
Chairman while the role of Acting Chief Executive Officer
was performed by Mr. Lo Yuen Wa Peter.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The Board currently has four INEDs, all holding appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise under Rule 3.10 of the
Listing Rules.

Code Provision A.4.1 provides that non-executive directors
should be appointed for specific term, subject to re-
election. The INEDs of the Company are not appointed for
specific term but they are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings of the
Company. Pursuant to the Clause 87(1) of the Company’s
Bye-laws, each director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years at the annual
general meeting. This means that the term of appointment
of the directors, including INEDs, cannot exceed three
years. As such, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance are no less exacting than those in
the Code.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee is principally responsible
for formulating the Group’s policy and structure for all
remunerations of the directors and senior management
and providing advice and recommendations to the Board
of the Company. The remuneration Committee comprises
the three INEDs of the Company. The terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee are consistent with
the terms set out in the relevant section of the Code.
During the year ended 31 March 2011, one meeting
has been held by the Remuneration Committee. The
Remuneration Committee discussed and reviewed the
remuneration packages for all executive directors and
senior management.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is principally responsible for
reviewing and supervising the Group’s financial reporting
process and internal control system and providing advice
and recommendations to the Board of the Company.
The Audit Committee comprises the three INEDs of the
Company. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
are consistent with the terms set out in the relevant
section of the Code.

During the year, the Audit Committee has met and
reviewed the interim financial statements (including
accounting policies and practices adopted) of the Group
for the six months ended 30 September 2010, and
recommended such financial statements to the Board
for approval. On 29 June 2011 (the date of this Annual
Report), the Audit Committee met to review the final
financial statements and other reports for the year ended
31 March 2011 and discuss any significant audit matters
with the Company’s external auditor and the senior
management before recommending them to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board has not set up a nomination committee for the
appointment of directors.

In accordance with Company’s Bye-laws 87(1), the Board
is empowered at any time to appoint any person as a
director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or
as an addition to the existing Board. Any director so
appointed shall retire and be eligible for re-election at the
next following annual general meeting and thereafter the
same director, if re-elected, will be subject to retirement
by rotation. The Board will identify and recommend the
proposed candidates to the Board for approval of an
appointment as a director based on certain criteria. The
criteria for selecting a director are mainly based on the
candidate’s quality which includes, but not limited to, his/
her qualification, experience, professional knowledge,
ethics and integrity. During the year ended 31 March
2011, four new directors were appointed either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code"”). On specific
enquiries made, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the remuneration
paid/payable to Mazars CPA Limited for audit and non-
audit services rendered to the Group amounted to
HK$1,200,000 and HK$1,103,000 respectively.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board acknowledges that they are responsible for
the preparation of the Company’s financial statements
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Company as of 31 March 2011 and of the results of
its operations and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and for ensuring that appropriate accounting policies are
selected and applied consistently.
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The directors are responsible for ensuring the maintenance
of proper accounting records of the Company and taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.The reporting responsibility of the
external auditor, Mazars CPA Limited, are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on page 28.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibilities for the Group’s
internal control system and has adopted a set of internal
control procedures to facilitate effective and efficient
operations, minimize the exposure to risks, to safeguard
assets and to ensure the quality of internal and external
reporting and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. The Board also considered that the resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function were
adequate.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Company has
engaged a professional advisor to perform certain agreed-
upon procedures in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Related Services 4400, “Engagement to Perform
Agreed-upon Procedures Regarding Financial Information”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountant. All major recommendations made by the
professional advisor were carefully considered by the
Board and had been implemented to enhance the internal
control over the Company’s assets. For more information,
please refer to the Company’s announcement which had
been published on 24 December 2010. Also, the Company
has engaged a compliance officer to advise the Board on
most of the aspect of statutory report and compliance on a
regular basis. Furthermore, the Company has continuously
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system over the major investments and loan financing
activities during the year ended 31 March 2011. The
Company together with an appointed financial adviser has
reviewed the Group's investment portfolio on a monthly
basis. There is no significant area of concern which may
suggest material deficiencies in the effectiveness of Group’s
internal control system.

The Board also reviews with the management the
Company’s Annual Report and resolves any serious
difficulties or disputes encountered during the audit
including the need to introduce additional internal
controls.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has established its own website
(http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/mascotte/index.htm) as a
means of disseminating information to the shareholders
and other stakeholders.

The shareholders’ meeting also provides a useful channel
for shareholders to communicate directly with the Board
at which the directors are available to answer questions
relating to the Company’s affairs. The right to demand
voting by poll is communicated to the shareholders by way
of circulars. Resolutions are proposed at each shareholder’s
meeting on each substantially separate issue, including the
election of individual director.

Looking ahead, the Company will continue to improve and
perfect the communication with investors and to provide
them with more opportunities to understand the business
of the Company.
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The directors have pleasure in presenting their annual
report and the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company
and is principally engaged in trading of investments and
loan financing. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
loan financing, manufacture and sale of accessories for
photographic, electrical and multimedia products and
property investment.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2011 are set out in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on page 30.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2011.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and
movements in share options during the year are set out in
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in the Group’s investment properties
and property, plant and equipment during the year are
set out in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

Particulars of the investment properties of the Group are
set out on page 112.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY b NN Do s
The Company’s reserve was as follows: AN/N o == N
2011 2010
=F——F —TTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Contributed surplus BB 72,201 72,201
Accumulated losses 25T (515,010) (270,637)
(442,809) (198,436)

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
the contributed surplus of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed
surplus if:

(a) the company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of the Company’s would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium
accounts.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Peter Temple (Chairman)
Whitelam

Mr. Lo Yuen Wa (Acting Chief Executive Officer)
Peter

Mr. Eddie Woo

Mr. Suen Yick Lun (appointed on 1 April 2011)
Philip

Mr. Lau King Hang (appointed on 20 June 2011)

Ms. Song Jiajia (resigned on 20 June 2011)

Mr. Lam Suk Ping (resigned on 27 April 2011)

Mr. Au Yeung Kai Chor  (resigned on 9 April 2010)

REARE-NAN-F2EE (BER) &
RAEIZEHBHRA T IR - A - £ TIER
T ARAAFERIORNEE - TG0 K
EHRR

(a) ARFREHIRMREREXEETHE
& &

(b) ARARZABZREESELMIRESR
{8~ B BTN R B it (B i 2 AN

EERBBEN

AEEREEARENHBMIL 2 AATES
AR

BITES

Peter Temple (/&)
Whitelam
FE

ELERE (REE7TBAER)

FaBiet (R=—FT——FMA—HEZE)

EEIED e (RZZE——F A T+BEZE)
RERLE (R=ZT——F XA+ HEE)
MECE5E 4 (R=ZZF——FMOA -+ HEHE)
BEREE (RZZE-—TFMOMANRBEE)
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Non-executive director:

Dr. Chuang, Henry
Yueheng

(Deputy-Chairman)
(appointed on 7 February 2011)

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Frank H. Miu

Dr. Agustin V. Que

Mr. Robert James laia |l (appointed on 18 June 2010)
Dr. Chien, Yung Nelly (appointed on 7 February 2011)

Ms. Hui Wai Man, Shirley  (resigned on 14 June 2010)
Mr. Chan Sze Hung (resigned on 3 May 2010)

Pursuant to the Clause 86(2) and 87 of the Company’s
Bye-Laws, Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam, Mr. Lo Yuen Wa
Peter, Dr. Chuang, Henry Yueheng, Dr. Chien, Yung Nelly,
Mr. Suen Yick Lun Philip and Mr. Lau King Hang shall retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election in the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

None of the directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The term of office of each independent non-executive
director is the period up to his retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly and
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

DIRECTORS INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2011, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")) as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as adopted by the Company, were as follows:

Directors’ Report EE&RE
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Interests in the Company NN o -
Approximate
Number of Percentage of
Name of director Capacity shares sharing
EEnE 14 RHEE FrEMQ B o
Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam Personal interests 1,250,000 0.05%
Peter Temple Whitelam %t 4 B AR
Mr. Lo Yuen Wa Peter Personal interests 2,500,000 0.11%
ETLERSE B ARz
Mr. Lam Suk Ping (note) Personal interests 3,250,000 0.14%

MRSt (BisE) fELA RS

Note: Mr. Lam Suk Ping resigned on 27 April 2011

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, none of
the directors, chief executives nor their associates had any
interests or short position in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and any of its associated
corporations that was required in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements headed “Share-Based Payment”, at no time
during the year was the Company or any its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of,
the Company or any other body corporate, and none of
the directors, or their spouses or children under the age of
eighteen, had any right to subscribe for the securities of
the Company, or had exercised any such rights during the
year.

W3 AT AR B —— A S+ ARHE
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2011, other than the interests of the
directors and chief executives of the Company as disclosed
above, shareholders who had interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company of 5%
or more which fell to be disclosed to the Company under
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO,

were as follows:

Interest in the Shares and underlying Shares — long

positions:

Directors’ Report EE&RE

FERR

RZE——F=ZA=1+—H BEXFAEEZ
AAREERTETHMAB ZHEZREIN RAR
IR S AR IS PR 5%k A | 2 #EZS 0K
B imBEREZES &K BHEERAEXVE M AR FH#
E o AR HRARRIRES R EIEAFE3361F
HFEZETMRZBRENT :

RGO REERD 2 #%s - 58

Percentage of
issued share

capital of
Number of the Company
ordinary LERNE|

Name of Shareholder shares held Capacity 2EITRAE

BRRERB FFEEREE 546 Bkt

Willie International Holdings Limited 135,697,500 Interest of a controlled corporation 5.89%

(Note 1) ZYEHAE R

BB TR AR AR (FisE1)

Willie Resources Incorporated 135,697,500 Interest of a controlled corporation 5.89%
ZYEHEE RS

Rawcliffe International Limited 135,697,500 Interest of a controlled corporation 5.89%
B AE RS

Nice Hill International Limited 135,697,500 Interest of a controlled corporation 5.89%
G AE R

Pearl Decade Limited 135,679,500  Beneficial owner 5.89%
EmEB A

Mr. Yang Huai Jin 354,100,608 Interest of a controlled corporation 15.36%

TR ZEFLEE R

Improve Forever Investments Limited 354,100,608  Beneficial owner 15.36%

(Note 2) (M47%2) EmEBA

Note: T -

(1) Willie International Holdings Limited (stock code: 273), a () EAIBEEERARD R (BRHAH : 273) B—
company listed on the Stock Exchange, is interested in the RIS T ETH AR - %Z@EEH%%WEQE
share capital of the Company indirectly through its direct Willie Resources Incorporated & i # & &1 &
wholly-owned subsidiary Willie Resources Incorporated and ’AETRavycIiffe International Limited - Nice Hill
its indirect wholly owned subsidiaries Rawcliffe International Irltelnahonal Limited &Pearl Decade Limitedfs
Limited, Nice Hill International Limited and Pearl Decade BREARRLZBAER
Limited.

) Improve Forever Investments Limited is wholly owned by Mr. () Improve Forever Investments Limited i 15 123 5t

EREHREE -

Yang Huai Jin
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, the
Company had not been notified by any person (other
than the directors and chief executives of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which fell to be
disclosed to the Company under Part XV of the SFO or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during
the year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during
the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2011, excluding the net
losses from the sales of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, the percentages of the Group's
turnover attribute to its largest customer and five largest
customers were 10.7% and 36.5% respectively. The
aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
58.9% of the Group’s total purchases and the amount of
purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier was
approximately 27.4% of the Group's total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any interest
in any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is
set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of
their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are
decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Company was not aware of any connected
transactions of the Group that shall be disclosed in this
annual report under the Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors,
the Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year ended 31 March 2011.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to HK$94,000.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events occurring after the balance
sheet date are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2011 were audited by Mazars
CPA Limited, who has been the auditor of the Company
since the year 2008.

On behalf of the Board

Peter Temple Whitelam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2011
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To the shareholders of
Mascotte Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Mascotte Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages
30 to 110, which comprise the consolidated and the
Company'’s statements of financial position as at 31 March
2011, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

Mazars CPA LIMITED

G T2 v 5 25 5 AT A R
42nd Floor, Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai
Hong Kong
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and the Group as at 31 March 2011 and of the Group’s
loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 June 2011

Fung Shiu Hang
Practising Certificate number: P04793
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 B2 —_F—— & =A=+—HItFE

2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FisE TET T
Turnover = 2] 4 103,373 241,871
Cost of sales HEMKAR (142,551) (104,084)
Gross (loss) profit (E8) EH (39,178) 137,787
Other income HAa U A 6 4,750 850
Net unrealised holding (loss) gain on BATEFABREREZ
financial assets at fair value through M EEZ ABRIEE
profit or loss (B18) fa%s (91,629) 18,087
Impairment loss on assets held for sale RHIELEBERERE 25 - (48,742)
Selling and distribution costs HE RO AR (8,246) (7,737)
Administrative expenses TEF S (107,297) (71,444)
Reversal of impairment loss for loan and ~ FEURE T R FEULFIS
interest receivables AR ERD - 80,000
Gain on fair value changes on investment  &EWEATFEES 2
properties g 1,008 1,711
Finance costs BE KA 7 (401) (5)
(Loss) Profit before tax BEiA (B51E) S F 8 (240,993) 110,507
Income tax expense Fi5 R 10 (3,320) (1,657)
(Loss) Profit for the year FE (&E) 55 (244,313) 108,850
Other comprehensive income B2 mEmkA
Exchange differences on translating MEFINEE ERZR
foreign operations 1,150 -
Total comprehensive (loss) income EELH (BE) WAL
for the year (243,163) 108,850
(Loss) Profit attributable to: FEfE (1) mfl
Owners of the parent BRAEEA (244,800) 108,631
Non-controlling interests FEIE R b 487 219
(244,313) 108,850
Total comprehensive (loss) income FEfh2mE (E8)
attributable to: N
Owners of the parent BRAEEA (243,815) 108,631
Non-controlling interests FEIE R i = 652 219
(243,163) 108,850
HK cents HK cents
pe= ] prlll
(Restated)
(/= &%)
(Loss) Earnings per share Bk (B8) 8% 12
Basic B-YN (13.28) 9.28
Diluted e (13.28) 9.11
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 4r& B #& AR 0 3=

At 31 March 2011 R =

T——4=A=+—~

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt THER FAT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investment properties REME 13 22,150 20,350
Property, plant and equipment ME - = MERAE 14 4,795 5,050
Prepaid lease payments BNEEHIE 15 4,068 4,703
Goodwill ma 16 - =
Available-for-sale financial assets AR EREEE 17 81,000 45,000
Loan and interest receivables FEME TR R FE IR B 22 = 11,929
112,013 87,032
Current assets REBEE
Financial assets at fair value through BATER ABRRZ
profit or loss WBEE 19 546,005 357,648
Inventories 7E 20 11,804 8,727
Prepaid lease payments BNHEERE 15 669 665
Trade and bills receivables I E 700 R BRI 21 36,825 20,258
Loan and interest receivables JEUWE T L EUR 2 22 30,978 50,285
Other receivables and prepayments H e MQTAIE&%EH g 23 54,944 19,513
Tax recoverable AR E IR 144 -
Bank balances and cash RITEBKRE S 24 16,805 75,720
698,174 532,816
Assets classified as held for sale DEAFENERE 25 = 79,242
698,174 612,058
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables [ERE 5708 26 11,589 9,327
Other payables and accrued charges HiEN B ke &R 25,516 22,161
Margin facilities utilised EBRFREE 31 526 =
Income tax payable e FTISHL 14,951 12,642
52,582 44,130
Liabilities directly associated with assets BAEARELERE
classified as held for sale ET&EF%Z@ & 25 - 42
52,582 44172
Net current assets REEEFE 645,592 567,886
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRGBER 757,605 654,918
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EERHIEEE 27 635 =
NET ASSETS EEFE 756,970 654,918
Capital and reserves BERF#E
Share capital (EEN 28 230,478 59,052
Reserves 1%%1% 522,176 592,202
Equity attributable to owners of the parent NRER AE(LRER 752,654 651,254
Non-controlling interests 3H g T 4,316 3,664
TOTAL EQUITY BRER 756,970 654,918

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 29 June 2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Lo Yuen Wa, Peter
ERESLLE
Director

EFE

BEEEeR_ET——F A= JFﬂEWJ:IZ/E&&E@

HZ - WATIESRREZGES

Mr. Suen Yick Lun, Philip
BREBELE

Director

EE
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Statement of Financial Position BA#&AR R &

At 31 March 2011 R=ZE——F=A=+—H

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET TETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R NRE 14 53 31
Available-for-sale financial assets It HEBEE 17 25,000 25,000
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR ZI%E 18 89,261 89,261
114,314 114,292
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABRE
through profit or loss B EE 19 543,987 351,492
Amounts due from subsidiaries R NG B 35 38,646 149,656
Other receivables and prepayments H th FE WK B R TR 5K IE 23 48,419 8,474
Bank balances and cash IRTTEREIRS® 24 3,260 47,104
634,312 556,726
Current liabilities REaE
Other payables and accrued charges — Efth BRI IE N fEZT & 10,363 5,088
Margin facilities utilised EEBATFREE 31 526 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAS BT A RIFRIE 35 60,156 89,191
71,045 94,279
Net current assets RBEEFE 563,267 462,447
Total assets less current liabilities EEAEBRREERE 677,581 576,739
Capital and reserves BRAR &
Share capital B&Z 28 230,478 59,052
Reserves B 29 447,103 517,687
TOTAL EQUITY AR 677,581 576,739

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 29 June 2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Lo Yuen Wa, Peter
ERERE
Director

EFE

Mr. Suen Yick Lun, Philip
BEBELE

Director

EFE

EFeR _T——FR AT LBHERRE
TIE - YA TIESFKKRE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity ZR S = S B R

Year ended 31 March 2011 B E —ZE——F=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to the owners of the parent

Share Share  Special

capital  premium  reserve

ke ROEE HURE

Notes ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
W TEr  TEr  TEn

BAREEAER
Enterprise Share Non-
expansion  option controlling

Translation  Re
reserve

serve  reserve  reserve  Accumulated interests
fd BELE  BRE losses  Total  FERK Total

BEGE G fife i RER Al it At

HK$'000  HK

$000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

Thr  TAr  TAr  TAr  TEr TEr  TEAr TEn

Note(@) ~ Note(o)  Note()  Note()  Note(d)
Wi KE®  WEQ  MEO MR
At 1 April 2009 RZFENERA-A 28592 560,236 13,901 1371 1,084 1,083 - (249991) 356,276 3445 359,721
Profit for the year EEEA = = - - - - - 108631 108631 219 108850
Transactions with owners HERAZR R
Recognition of equity-settled BAERRE
share-based payment RIARE - - - - - - 1219 - 1219 - 1219
Issue of shares upon SRTHREER
conversion of convertible notes, LT (BFR)
net of expenses 26000 104,000 - - - - - - 130,000 - 130,000
Issue of shares upon exercise of ffaRERES
share options &ip 4460 49,649 - - - - (9,961) - 44048 - 44,148
Total transactions with owners ~ HEBAZRAEH 30460 153,649 - - - - 2238 - 186347 - 186347
At 31 March 2010 RZ5-TE
=h=t-H 59,052 713,885 13,901 137 1,084 1,083 2,238 (141,360 651,254 3664 654918
At 1 April 2010 R=Z-ZEMA-A 59,052 713885 13,901 1371 1,084 1,083 238 (141.360) 651,254 3004 654918
Loss for the year EEBE - - - - = = - (244,800) (244,800) 487 (44313)
Other comprehensive income Atb2EHA
Exchange differences on HERNEHL
translating foreign operation ESZE = - - 985 - - - - 985 165 1,150
Total comprehensive loss FEEREFRAE
for the year - - - 985 - - - (244800) (243815 652 (243,163)
Transactions with owners BEEAZRS
Recognition of equity-settled A EREEL
share-based payment e E)) - - - - - AR - 004 AR
Issue of shares, net of expenses KRG (NBET) 28 10919 94267 - - - - - - 105,186 - 105,186
Issue of bonus shares BT 8b) 104955 (104,955) - - - - - - - - -
Issue of shares upon exercise of fifERERES
share options i 28(0) 20,142 80430 = = = - (23280) - 71285 - 71,285
Subscription of new shares JEEEH 28 35410 106,230 - - - - - - 141,640 - 141,640
Total transactions with owners ~ EEEAZRAEE 17146 175972 - - - - 2183 - 35215 - 35005
At 31 March 2011 R-g-—-%
=A=1-H 230478 889,857 13,901 2,356 1,084 1,083 5 (386,160) 752,654 4316 756,970
Notes: BaE
(a) The special reserve at 1 April 2009 represented the difference (a) R-FETZNEN A —HZ2ERIBEEREARATID 2
between the nominal amount of the share capital issued by TRAZEEERE-NDNAEFNARREEE
the Company and the aggregate nominal value of the share EmkE B AR R AEERREME 2=
capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group o
reorganisation on 5 September 1997.
(b) The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange (b) BMEFEEPEB RREGINETR 2 SRR
differences arising from the translation of the financial EEZERZRE -
statements of foreign operations.
(© Reserve fund and enterprise expansion reserve are reserves (0) FEeRERCEREBEIAQRNFEA RN
required by the relevant laws in the People’s Republic of (IR 1) —ZX Y 2 Al B A 2 AR B
China (“PRC") applicable to a subsidiary of the Company in BIREREEERMRZ 2 HEE -
the PRC for enterprise development purposes.
(d) The share option reserve relates to share options granted (d) BRiEREBEBEEBERESEIRE 2BERES

under the share option scheme. Further information about
share-based payments is set out in note 32.

B o BRARMN R ZE - FERERNHFE32 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows G SR ERER

For the year ended 31 March 2011 B2 —_F—— & =A=+—HItFE

2011 2010
—E2——F —ZTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEXR
(Loss) Profit before taxation MR ET (B8) B (240,993) 110,507
Adjustments for: EfEHATFAE :
Bank interest income HRITHIEMA (14) (82)
Interest income from loan receivables FEME SR 2 FI 2 WA (5,601) (3,417)
Dividend income from listed investments ETREZREWA (2,598) (1,363)
Amortisation of intangible assets B A = = 2,054
Interest expenses MEF 401 >
Allowance for trade and bills receivables FEUWE 5 708 M RIS ZE IR s 148 -
Allowance for inventories FEEE 506 -
Reversal of impairment loss for loan and FEWE I R EWF S 2
interest receivables BB R R R E - (80,000)
Impairment loss on assets held for sales FELEEEZRERE - 48,742
Release of prepaid lease payments FBAHEEFHIERE 684 665
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BERREZITE
equipment 1,224 1,576
(Gain) Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BEREELZ
plant and equipment (Wzs) E51E (3) 33
Gain on disposal of prepaid lease HETBRHEERIE 2 W
payments (1,008) -
Net unrealised holding loss (gain) on BN EFFABREEZ
financial assets at fair value through WEBECRERIFAR
profit or loss B (Ka) 35 91,629 (18,087)
Equity-settled share-based payment AR S 2 IRV 21,104 12,199
Gain on fair value changes on REMEANFEES 2 W
investment properties (1,008) (1,711)
Operating cash flows before movements in ~ &iE &4 EEH 2
working capital KRERENE (135,529) 121
Changes in working capital: LBEEHE -
Financial assets at fair value through BATFEFABREY
profit or loss WG EE (200,786) (186,985)
Inventories =8 (3,250) (3,141)
Trade and bills receivables FEU B 538 K BN R IR (16,627) 4,100
Loan and interests receivables JE U B R e B LR B 31,929 123,071
Other receivables and prepayments ﬁﬂﬂfuﬁz IE&%EH (35,393) 1,269
Trade payables ENES 2,191 1,779
Other payables and accrued charges ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ IE)SZJE tEH 2,973 7,203
Cash (used in) generated from operations e (A iszie (354,492) 18,417
Interest received from loan receivables R E R 2 EWFIE 4,908 4,052
Dividend received from listed investments EmigEZBRARE 2,598 1,363
Tax (paid) refunded (Bf) REFIAE (725) 146
Net cash (used in) from REXEK (FTA) Bz
operating activities REFHE (347,711) 23,978




Mascotte Holdings Limited & H & &= EGR A

7] * Annual Report 2011 3R 35

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows GRS B ERER
For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ—ZF——F=A=+—HILFE

2011 2010
—E-—F —ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXK
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  ANE W - BE M&iG (845) (720)
Proceeds from disposal of property, tﬂgiﬁi 5 K.
plant and equipment SABPTIS IR 12 9
Proceeds from disposal of prepaid lease HEBNEERIBAEHRIE
payment 1,193 -
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets & ] fit 1 & B 7 & 2 (36,000) (25,000)
Interest received EUF S 14 82
Net cash used in investing activities REEBFTARSTFE (35,626) (25,629)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Proceeds from new margin loan TR ERASRIA 526 -
Proceeds from issue of new shares, BAITHRID PRI RIA
net of expenses (FkRFA) 246,826 -
Proceeds from issue of new shares RIBRI TR AR R 1T
upon exercise of share options ¥R P 1S 508 77,285 44,148
Interest paid EARFE (401) (5)
Net cash from financing activities RMEXBESRELER 324,236 44,143
Net (decrease) increase in cash and ReRERBELEEZ
cash equivalents Om2) e (59,101) 42,492
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F¥ZRERZEFHRLER
of the year 75,720 33,228
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEE [ RS Bl R B 186 -
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRZ2BERERALER -
of the year, representing bank ERITESRES
balances and cash 16,805 75,720
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt &R RMIEE
For the year ended 31 March 2011 HEZE—ZT——F=fF=+—HIFE

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a public company incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of
the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company are disclosed in the directory of the annual
report.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
is principally engaged in loan financing, trading of
investments, manufacture and sale of accessories for
photographic, electrical and multimedia products and
property investment.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting policies
adopted in the 2010 consolidated financial statements.
The adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant
to the Group and effective from the current year had no
significant effects on the results and financial position of
the Group and the Company. A summary of the principal
accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

1. 2AFER
AAEA—BRERENTREGRATER
ST ABAR ERHOESEBARS
FTARAR ([BRET]) £ o RAFZ Mk
EERTELEMB I RERERY AR
£4% o

AREREMBAR ([AEE]) TBREER
BME WEEE RHE ERMZHEEERL
2 BERHEA R ERE -

AP BEHREARNRB 2 e EHABTZS ©

2. EXEEITHEX
LTS

ZEFAMBRRIREELGHMLE ([
BEREAE ) Bz BEMBHREER ([F
BMBHREEN])  RERMEERZEEY
BHREEL AL ((FESER])
LB zaiE BAEBRAZISFRAAR
BRERAGIZREREMRE - ZFHRAY
BHRETTEMIMES EHRR 2 ERKE
HTE e

RAEZSHEAMBRRARM G RRE
Z-EFEEMBHRRMAFMAERT - &
AEBEEBERAFEEERMIBERA 2]/
RETBEEVBREEABAEEBRARALZ
KENMMBRALBEATE - NAEERAZ
T2 BEIHAMN T SCETHUL
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %r& Bt #8358 38 Ml &

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZE—_ZE——F=A=+—HILFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs
HKFRS 3 (Revised): Business Combinations/Improvements

to HKFRSs 2009 with amendments to HKFRS 3 (Revised)

The revised standard introduced a number of major
changes including the following:

° acquisition-related transaction costs, other than
share and debt issue costs, to be expensed as
incurred;

o existing interest in the acquiree to be remeasured at

fair value, with the gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss, upon subsequent changes in ownership
interests;

o non-controlling interest in the acquiree to be
measured at either fair value, or at its proportionate
interest in the identifiable assets and liabilities of
the acquiree;

o contingent consideration to be recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date; and

o goodwill to be measured at the excess of the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of the
acquirer’s interest in the acquiree and the amount
of any non-controlling interest over the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed from the
acquisition.

The Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 contains amendments
to clarify the measurement of the fair value of an
intangible asset acquired in a business combination and to
permit the grouping of intangible assets as a single asset if
each asset has a similar useful life.

These changes did not have material impact on the
financial statements for the year.

2. EESHBE #)

PRAIT /ST E R B8

BB BIHEEREINE (KE5]) © ZHE
ot —FEENFEBHEHEER| 2 BB A E
BRI A EREI N, (FEET) 2T

ZARERI RS EZRETRZES - BT

o WEFEREBRINA (R REBES
RABN) BB AR S -

e NWEBHZRBRIESGNEAEER
HENAEHRHZAFESHAE - M
BRAZE RN Bt FER

o RBME 2RSSR A T A
HRN BRI HBIAER A &
HLLOIEHE -

Y|

o FAREHRRKEASETATFERR
R

e REKREEITRRKES 2EmER
BEHH A VFEEREAIEZERERSHE
ZHE - OREMBRERI R EERIKE
BHzFELRAKRBSEMAEAEZA
B1RERRTE ©

S EEAEEBHBREEA  REH G SE
Bi] - BEREBAHBMRERTAEZA
FEZEHERE LA HURVEE 2 RS
IR - AR S RV AEA G BE—
AEHE -

REEPHAFE MBEHRRUBEERTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt &R RMIEE
For the year ended 31 March 2011 HEZE—ZT——F=fF=+—HIFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Cont’d)

HKAS 27 (Revised): Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

The revised standard requires accounting for changes
in ownership interests in a subsidiary, while maintaining
control, to be recognised as an equity transaction. It also
requires, when the group loses control of a subsidiary, any
interest retained in the former subsidiary to be remeasured
at fair value with the gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss. This principle is also extended to a disposal of an
associate through the consequential amendments to HKAS
28 Investments in Associates. The adoption of the revised
standard did not have material impact on the consolidated
financial statements for the year.

Amendments to HKAS 17 Leases

As part of Improvements to HKFRSs 2009, HKAS 17
Leases has been amended in relation to the classification
of leasehold land. Before the amendments to HKAS 17,
the Group was required to classify leasehold land as
operating leases and to present leasehold land as prepaid
lease payments in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The amendments to HKAS 17 have removed
such a requirement. The amendments require that the
classification of leasehold land should be based on the
general principles set out in HKAS 17, that is, whether
or not substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of a leased asset have been transferred to the
lessee. In accordance with the transitional provisions set
out in the amendments to HKAS 17, the Group reassessed
the classification of unexpired leasehold land as at 1 April
2010 based on information that existed at the inception
of the leases. There is no leasehold land that qualifies
for finance lease classification, hence, no prepaid lease
payment has been reclassified to property, plant, and
equipment retrospectively.

2. EESHBE #)

RAME RETERYBREREL (&)

EE DI ERIFE 279 (AMEET) - e REVE
75(1
BHRE

ZIARMERT ERIR E — KM B & m A H i 4
DEAKREMER HAGREa B aiE
RRRER S oM - ZER IR TE i AR B
REMB AR ZIEH4E - BIFTRERATH B2
AlZEAREREAFEENRAE MEHER
BARNEGEHHER - ZBRAUTEBELES
ZHF28RE N A LB ZHEEFTRRE
HEBE QA ZITN - MAKEBFTEIHARE
BZGAMBHmRABERTE

BB B ERE 177 E (183T4)

ER-ZEZNFEEHBHRELER 22—
Mo BEEGSFENE1TSREEREEL 2
DEELER] - REBGFHER B 17/ AEET
Al AEBAKEET Y BRAKEEELR
FAEVBAARAREEL M2 ABNEE
I - BAGFERIE17TRIEFTMER T 118
RE - ZIEFTBRBE L ARE B G LR
F1THRAE 2 —RRADE - REEEEM
EREZEBERBREEHRETEAR BB E &
BAREE - REEFBSHERNFE 7R ZEFT
BB - AEBEREBEEIVHEORFE
ZERNBEHFER _E-—SFMA—H KD
HeHET o E aRTENERERED
BeHEETH  FiWEEWPREFHHEANHE
EXBEEME  BENMEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %r& Bt #8358 38 Ml &

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZE=—ZT——F=F=+—HIFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Cont’d)
Amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

The Amendments provide that only expenditure that
results in a recognised asset can be classified as a cash
flow from investing activities.

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

The Interpretation concludes that, if a term loan (i.e. a
loan that is repayable on a specified date or in installments
over a specified period, usually in excess of one year) has
a demand clause (i.e. a clause that gives the lender an
overriding right to demand repayment without notice
or with notice period of less than 12 months at its sole
discretion) in its term, the loan shall be classified by the
borrower as a current liability in the statement of financial
position. Similarly, the amounts repayable under such a
term loan shall be classified in the earliest time bracket in
the contractual maturity analysis as required to be disclosed
under HKFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The
adoption of this interpretation did not have any effect on
the financial position of the Group.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except
for investment properties and certain financial instruments,
which are measured at fair value.

2. EESHBE #)

AT RETEBMBHREER (&)
BB EEBRE 7 A T nER (BFTA)

SETREEERRREENE S IR R
AREREEH BT -

BEEBESHHBEHRERZEI — EXTLHE
BB NEE RN EHEXZ 7

AZBHRE  WEHER (BIZAREE R
EESRRE CBRBEE—F) A HEEZER)
REFHATAREZREEGR (BB TER
TRBERER - AT R EB A SGB A DR 1218
AZBERT2ERNIBERKEEZIGR) - AIER
ARERTRUBRARADBELSRDAE -
RN - ZEMERBE T ZEREERBARE
FEVBHRELRNETR : @B TR : WEZH
BRERGQIRAA DT REFERIE D
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt &R RMIEE
For the year ended 31 March 2011 HEZE—ZT——F=fF=+—HIFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and
expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceased.

Non-controlling interests are presented separately in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and
within equity in the consolidated statement of financial
position, separately from owners of the parent. For each
business combination occurs on or after 1 April 2010, the
non-controlling interest in the acquiree is measured initially
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. This
choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. For each business combination occurred
prior to 1 April 2010, the non-controlling interest in the
acquiree was measured at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

2. EESHBE #)

mEEE

REMBRREBEARBERARBMEHNZE
BIZMBRR - AARARARNEEERZY
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %r& Bt #8358 38 Ml &

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZE—_ZE——F=A=+—HILFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)
Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent and
to the non-controlling interests. From 1 April 2010, total
comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the
parent and the non-controlling interest even if this results
in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.
Prior to 1 April 2010, losses applicable to the non-
controlling interest in excess of the non-controlling interest
in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests
of the Group except to the extent that the non-controlling
interest has a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

Changes in ownership interest

From 1 April 2010, changes in the Group’s ownership
interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners
of the parent.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest
determined at the date when control is lost and (ii) the
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests
at the date when control is lost. The amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
the disposed subsidiary is recognised on the same basis
as would be required if the parent had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Any investment retained
in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to
the former subsidiary is accounted for as a financial asset,
associate, jointly controlled entity or others as appropriate
from the date when control is lost.

2. EESHBE #)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt &R RMIEE
For the year ended 31 March 2011 HEZE—ZT——F=fF=+—HIFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)
Changes in ownership interest (Cont’d)

Prior to 1 April 2010, the Group applied a policy of
treating transactions with non-controlling interest as
transactions with equity owners of the Group and thus
any adjustments arising from an acquisition of or disposal
to non-controlling interest were made through equity. Any
increase in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
was treated in the same manner as an acquisition. For
decreases in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary,
regardless of whether the disposals would result in a
loss of control, the difference between the consideration
received and the carrying amount of the share of net
assets disposed of was recognised in profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Group has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses. The carrying amount of the investments
is reduced to its recoverable amount on an individual
basis. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

Goodwill

From 1 April 2010, goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
subsidiary is measured at the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the fair value of any previously held
equity interest in the acquiree over the acquisition date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed of the acquired subsidiary. Prior to 1
April 2010, goodwill represented the excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s share of the fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acquired subsidiary.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Goodwiill (Cont’d)

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiary is recognised as a
separate asset. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, which is tested for impairment annually
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. For the
purpose of impairment test and determination of gain or
loss on disposal, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units. An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed.

From 1 April 2010, in respect of a subsidiary, any excess
of the acquisition date amounts of identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed of the acquired
subsidiary over the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree, if any, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase. Prior
to 1 April 2010, any excess of the Group’s share of the fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquired subsidiary over the related
cost of acquisition, after reassessment, was recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated in the statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful life
is finite) and impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives which are determined
by the period over which it is expected to bring economic
benefits to the Group.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only
when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal
group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably
and on the following bases.

Rental income, including rentals invoiced in advance from
properties let under operating leases, is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered
and title has passed.

Handling fees income is recognised when the relevant
transactions have been arranged or the relevant services
have been rendered.

Net income (loss) from the sales of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss is recognised on the
transaction date when the relevant sale and purchase
contract is entered into.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
Group’s rights to receive payment have been established.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Investment properties

Investment properties, which are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation, are measured
initially at costs including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at its fair value. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the profit or loss in the year in which the item
is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is
included in profit or loss in the year in which the item is
derecognised.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Impairment of tangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount
of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

As lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

As lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an
incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Leasing (Cont’d)
Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element
as a finance or an operating lease separately based on
the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of each element
have been transferred to the Group. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront
payments) are allocated between the land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease. When
the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, the entire lease is generally
classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property,
plant and equipment.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the period of the lease on a
straight-line basis.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments and on a trade date basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. They are carried at fair value, with any
resultant gain and loss recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they
are (i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near future; (i) part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or (iii)
derivatives that are not designated and effective hedging
instruments.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss if (i) the designation
eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent
treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring
the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or losses on a
different basis; or (i) they are part of a group of financial
assets and that are managed and their performance
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a
documented risk management strategy; or (iii) they contain
embedded derivatives that would need to be separately
recorded.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated as
a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, except
where the embedded derivative does not significantly
modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the
embedded derivative is prohibited.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. At the end of each
reporting period, subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and bills receivables,
loan and interest receivables, other receivables and bank
balances) are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment loss. An
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest
rate. Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative
financial assets that are either designated at this category
or not classified in any of the other categories of financial
assets. They are measured at fair value with changes in
value recognised as a separate component of equity until
the assets are sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, or
until the assets are determined to be impaired, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in
equity is transferred to profit or loss. Available-for-sale
financial assets that do not have a quoted market price in
an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured are stated at cost less impairment loss.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether there is objective evidence that financial assets,
other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are
impaired. The impairment loss of financial assets carried at
amortised cost is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount at the present value of estimated
future cash flow discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. Such impairment loss is reversed
in subsequent periods through profit or loss when an
increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an
amount comprising the difference between its acquisition
cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation)
and current fair value, less any previously recognised
impairment loss, is transferred from equity to profit or loss.
Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in respect
of available-for-sale equity instrument are not reversed
through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in fair value
of available-for-sale equity instrument after recognition
of impairment loss is recognised in equity. Reversal of
impairment loss of available-for-sale debt instruments are
reversed through profit or loss, if the increase in fair value
of the instrument can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in
profit or loss.

For an available-for-sale financial asset that is carried at
cost, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the financial
asset and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for
a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss shall not be
reversed.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the
Group are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set
out below.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade payables, other
payables and income tax payable are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly
in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-
out method.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, net of bank overdrafts, if any.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and
is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged or
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising
on investment in subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities, except where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the end of the
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period except for differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of
which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity, in
which cases, the exchange differences are also recognised
directly in equity.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are expressed in Hong Kong dollars using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which
case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised as a separate component of equity (translation
reserve). Such translation differences are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation
is disposed of.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/
state-managed retirement benefit scheme/the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are charged as expenses when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Long service payment

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
payment under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is
the amount of future benefit that employees have earned
in return for their service in the current and prior periods.
The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit
method and is discounted to its present value and the fair
value of any related assets including retirement scheme
benefit, is deducted.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group’'s employees and consultants receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees and consultants
rendered services in exchange for shares or rights over
shares. The cost of such transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the transaction
date. The fair value of share options granted to employees
is recognised as staff costs with a corresponding increase
in a reserve within equity. The fair value is determined
using applicable valuation techniques, taking into account
the terms and conditions of the transactions, other
than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the
Company.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received, except where that
fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted at the date the entity obtains the goods or the
counterparty renders the service.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
year in which the performance conditions are fulfilled,
ending on the date on which the relevant employees and
consultants become fully entitled to the award (i.e. vesting
date). During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest ultimately is reviewed. Any
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior
years is charged/credited to profit or loss for the year of
the review, with a corresponding adjustment to reserve
within equity. The equity amount is recognised in the
capital reserve until either the option is exercised (when it
is transferred to the share premium account) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of services, the type or
class of the customers, the methods used to provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Related parties

A party is related to the Group if

(a)

directly, or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, the party controls, is controlled by,
or is under common control with, the Group; or
has an interest in the Group that gives it significant
influence over the Group; or has joint control over
the Group;

the party is an associate of the Group;

the party is a joint venture in which the Group is a
venturer;

the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group;

the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d);

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for which
significant voting power in such entity resides with,
directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d)
or (e); or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of the Group, or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about the carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Cont’d)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material
adjustment in the next year are discussed below.

Allowance for inventories

The Group’s management reviews the carrying amount of
inventories at the end of each reporting period, and make
allowance for obsolete and slow-moving items identified
that are no longer recoverable or suitable for use in
production. Management estimates the net realisable value
for inventories based primarily on the latest invoice prices
and current market conditions.

Impairment allowance for doubtful debts

The provisioning policy for doubtful debts of the Group
is based on the evaluation of collectability of the
accounts receivables and loan and interest receivables. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing
the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the
current creditworthiness and the past collection history
of each customer/borrower. If the financial conditions
of these customers/borrowers were to deteriorate and
result in an impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional allowance will be required.

Fair value of investment properties and unlisted
convertible notes

Investment properties and unlisted convertible notes are
stated at fair value based on the valuations performed by
independent professional valuers. In determining the fair
value, the valuers have based on a method of valuation
which involves certain estimates. In relying on the valuation
reports, the directors have exercised their judgement and
are satisfied that the method of valuations is reflective of
the current market conditions.
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3. FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current
year, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to
HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HK(IFRIC) - Int 19

HKAS 24 (Revised)
Amendments to

HK(FRIC) - Int 14

Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010
Amendments to
HKFRS 7
Amendments to
HKAS 12
HKFRS 9
HKAS 27 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)
HKFRS 10
HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

Limited Exemption from Comparative
HKFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time
Adopters'

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments '

Related Party Disclosures?

Prepayments of a Minimum Fundling
Requirement?

Improvements to HKFRSs 20103

Disclosures- Transfer of Financial Assets*

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
Assets®

Financial Instruments®

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures®

Consolidated Financial Statements ®

Joint Arrangements ©

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities®

Fair Value Measurement?®
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3.

FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs (Cont'd)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2010

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2011

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2010 or 1 January 2011, as appropriate

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2011

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2012

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013

The directors are in the process of assessing the possible
impact on the future adoption of these new/revised
HKFRSs, but are not yet in a position to reasonably
estimate their impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
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statements.
4. TURNOVER 4, HHEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ET—FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Dividend income from listed investments FTIRE 2B A 2,598 1,363
Interest income from loan receivables UK E TR 2 F B U A 5,601 3,417
Handling fee income FEEBWA 350 -
Gross rental income il LN 1,347 854
Net (loss) profit from the sales of financial HERAFEFTABREEZ
assets at fair value through profit or loss* W EE 2 (B18) aflFEar (95,974) 88,143
Sales of goods HEE M 189,451 148,094
103,373 241,871

Represents the proceeds from sales of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of HK$298,910,000 (2070:
HK$437,014,000) less cost of sales and carrying value
of the financial assets sold of HK$394,884,000 (2070:
HK$348,871,000).
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The directors have been identified as the chief operating
decision makers to evaluate the performance of operating
segments and to allocate resources to those segments
based on the Group’s internal reporting in respect of
these segments. The directors consider loan financing,
investments, manufacture and sales of goods and property
investment (i.e. rental of properties) are the Group’s major
operating segments. Segment results represent the profit
earned or loss incurred by each segment without allocation
of central administration costs including directors’ and
auditor’s remuneration, legal and professional fees and
finance costs. The following analysis is the measure
reported to the chief operating decision makers for
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of
segment performance.

Operating segments of the Group comprise the following:

(i) Investments: Trading of investments

(ii) Loan financing: Provision of loan financing services

(i) Manufacture and sales of goods: Manufacture and
trading of accessories for photographic, electrical

and multimedia products

(iv)  Property investment: Holding properties for rental
and capital appreciation
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all property, plant and equipment,
prepaid lease payments, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, available-for-sale financial assets,
loan and interest receivables, trade and bills receivables
and certain other receivables and prepayments. Segment
liabilities include trade payables and certain other payables
and accrued charges.

Revenues and expenses are allocated to the reporting
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or
amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment results is
(loss) profit before tax. For the purpose of assessing the
performance of the operating segments and allocation
resources between segments, the Group’s results are
further adjusted for items not specifically attributed to
individual segments, such as directors’ and auditor’s
remuneration and other head office or corporate
administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
(loss) profit before tax, management is provided with
segment information concerning revenue, interest income
and expense from cash balances and borrowings managed
directly by the segments, depreciation, amortisation, and
impairment losses of and additions to non-current segment
assets used by the segments in their operations.

5. 2EER #®

RAEDBRRARSESBRER  A&EZ
;.%&ﬁﬂ(aﬁhzTﬁlJ%ﬁ% =R SR
ZEE BERAE

“*Eé%&%ﬁﬁﬁ%% B E N&fE - BAHE

EFH  BAFEFABRSKRCMBEE - A
1 Hjﬁzﬁﬁiéﬁ M E R KBRS - B
WEZRANRKRERRE ?E@FH&Z IE)SZ
BAR - 2REEERENESHARETHE
RN IRNETER -

WaMAXE2EZSEIREL ZIHERKLE
AR RZESRRIGECEENEEEE
EZHEBRLAXRIEERIZ2ROME

ARERDBEB <AAETDERBA (BR) i
ﬂ EHJHEZ%%”*EZ%EE&’”EF’ﬁZéﬁn

 REE 2 FE TV IFEEBRER 2 28
ZIEET”EﬁE’E FIE - T F RAZBED 2 B
S REMBRFERKEETHRA ©

RIS ARENAT (B8R) HA 20 BERS -
BREMERFEAREA ’\*EEFMEEZIEKE
BHRZMBMARERZNERA - TE - #
HEDBERARNEEZIRB O BEEZRER
BRERABEZDBER -
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 5. SEER @
Segment revenues and results for the year ended 31 BE-_Z——F=A=+—-BLFEZZERK
March 2011 m &k EE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and TRARAEBRIZEHKIP B ZREREES
results by reportable segment: T -
Manufacture
and sales of
Loan goods Property
financing Investments BUER  investment Consolidated
ENmE RE HEEm NERE &8

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEx FER TER TER TR

Turnover EEH
To external customers ETHNEEP 5,951 (93,376) 189,451 1,347 103,373
Segment results NEEE 5,939 (185,007) 10,097 749 (168,222)
Unallocated other income ROBEMBA 3,718
Unallocated corporate expenses APRARER (76,088)
Finance costs BB (401)
Loss before tax BRERIER (240,993)
Income tax expense FEHRAEX (3,320)
Loss for the year FEER (244,313)
There were no inter-segment sales during the year ended REBEZE2 - ZE—F=—H=+—BLEFEITED
31 March 2011 (2010: Nil). BREE (ZFE—FF - &) -
Segment assets and liabilities at 31 March 2011 R-EBE——F=ZA=+—HZ2BEERAER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and TRAEXAEEZIERVPBEZEERBED
liabilities by reportable segment: o
Manufacture
and sales of
Loan goods Property
financing  Investments ER  investment Consolidated
EXRE RE& HEEm NERE &®e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TR TER TR
Assets EE
Segment assets NEEE 30,978 675,060 58,107 22,250 786,395
Unallocated corporate assets RORAREE 23,792
Consolidated total assets BeBAE 810,187
Liabilities afE
Segment liabilities =L - 526 26,916 - 27,442
Unallocated corporate liabilities APEARIAE 25,775
Consolidated total liabilities FemaRE 53,217
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B BHmRME

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 5. Z¥EEH#)
Other segment information for the year ended 31 BE-_Z——S=A=+-BLFEZHMS
March 2011 B|ER
Manufacture
and sales of
Loan goods Property
financing  Investments SR investment Unallocated Consolidated
ESRE RE HESm NERE L &e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THx T#x TR TR
Allowance for inventories FERE - - 506 - - 506
Allowance for trade and bills receivables  JEUTE 5508 R ELK
ZERE - - 148 - - 148
Bank interest income SRITAIBMA - - (14) - = (14)
Capital expenditures BRRX - - 814 - 31 845
Depreciation of property, % - BERREL
plant and equipment e - - 1,215 - 9 1,224
Gain on disposal of property, LENE - WERREL
plant and equipment Wiz - - 3) - - €
Gain on disposal of prepaid lease HERMHEREL
payment Wi - - (1,008) - - (1,008)
Gain on fair value changes on REMENTERS 2
investment properties Wogs - - - (1,008) - (1,008)
Net unrealised holding loss on BOVEF A BREL
financial assets at fair value BB BE AR
through profit or loss BREEETE - 91,629 = = = 91,629
Purchase of available-for-sale BEARINENEEE
financial assets - 36,000 - - - 36,000
Release of prepaid lease payments BAHEERD = - 684 - = 684

Segment revenues and results for the year ended 31 March

HE—T—TF-A=T - AEFEZSBR

2010 mMEE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and TEAKREEBRAEROPBEIWRREED
results by reportable segment: b
Manufacture
and sales of
Loan goods Property
financing  Investments BER investment  Consolidated
ENREE RE HEEM WERE )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TET TAT TAET
Turnover =S
To external customers ETINEEP 3,417 89,506 148,094 854 241,871
Segment results DREE 83,406 107,584 5,221 865 197,076
Unallocated other income AABEEMUA 768
Unallocated corporate expenses AABRARAER (87,332)
Finance costs BEKA (5)
Profit before tax =gl 110,507
Income tax expense PSR Y (1,657)
Profit for the year FERA 108,850
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
Segment assets and liabilities at 31 March 2010

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and TERASEERAZEROIB I EERBED
liabilities by reportable segment: T -
Manufacture
and sales of
Loan goods Property

financing  Investments BuEk  investment Consolidated

EXmE RE HEEM MERE e

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT THL THT AT THT
Assets &E
Segment assets NEREE 62,214 411,037 39,479 20,450 533,180
Unallocated corporate assets (note a) AP EARIEE (fifzra) 165,910
Consolidated total assets RAREE 699,090
Liabilities af
Segment liabilities NEEE - - 26,734 - 26,734
Unallocated corporate liabilities (note b) A EAF&E (Hitzib) 17,438
Consolidated total liabilities FRBEE 44172
Notes: B 5
(a) Included in the amount is assets classified as held for sale of (a) BB ENEAFELEEEETI242,000
HK$79,242,000. BT ©

(b) Included in the amount is liabilities directly associated with

assets classified as held for sale of HK$42,000.

Other segment information for the year ended 31 March

(b) FHSEEE D ARKIFHEEEERAH
B15§42,000/8 7T °

2010
Manufacture
and sales of
Loan goods Property
financing  Investments &R investment  Unallocated  Consolidated
ERRE BE HESm MERE AAE )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THr TAL TAL TAL T
Amortisation of intangible assets BV AESH - - - - 2,054 2,054
Bank interest income SRATFISIA - - (82) = = (82)
Capital expenditures BARHY - - 720 - - 720
Depreciation of property, nE - BERREINE
plant and equipment - - 1,570 - 6 1,576
Loss on disposal of property, LENE - BER
plant and equipment HEEBE - - 33 - = 33
Impairment loss on assets held for sale  #5{EHE A& 7 REEE - = - - 48,742 48,742
Gain on fair value changes on RENMEATEZE
investment properties s = = - (1,711) = (1,711)
Net unrealised holding gain on BATEN ABSRZ
financial assets at fair value MBEE L RER
through profit or loss BElEFE - (18,087) = = = (18,087)
Purchase of available-for-sale BENHHENREE
financial assets - 25,000 - - - 25,000
Release of prepaid lease payments BENRERERE - - - 665 - 665
Reversal of impairment loss for RREFRERNE 2
loan and interest receivables REBEED (80,000) = = = = (80,000)
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

Geographical information

The Group’s sales of goods are principally carried out in
Europe, United States of America, Hong Kong and other
regions in the PRC. Property investment is carried out in
other regions in the PRC. Investments trading and loan
financing are carried out in Hong Kong.

The following tables set out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s turnover from
external customers and (ii) the Group’s investment
properties, property, plant and equipment, and non-current
portion of prepaid lease payments (“Specified Non-current
Assets”). The geographical location of customers is based
on the location at which the services were provided. The
geographical location of the Specified Non-current Assets
is based on the physical location of the assets.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
turnover by geographical market, irrespective of the origin
of the goods/services:

5. oEER (®)
i EE R

AEBEETEREOM - XB - FiE T EE i
BEHEEM VWERENTHEEMBERETT -
KREEBENEFRMENEBET -

TR BBOAKEKRBINARFZEXH
RNVARBZREME WE - BEREE -
BNBEERBEZFRBED ([HHEFRDE
El) ZHBUBEER - FF ZMIBUEENE
HIRBAAEMIETE - MEEFRDEE M
BUBENEEERMAEMIMERTE °

TRABRWETIH2I 2 AEEHEEBEDMN
(TmEm,/ RS2 HRML) :

2011 2010

—E——F —E-FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Europe (EO 74,664 65,192
United States of America EH 41,256 30,748
Hong Kong a5 (64,360) 101,547
Other regions in the PRC A [ L At 3 [ 22,386 17,621
Others Eb 29,427 26,763

103,373 241,871
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 5. 2EB&EH#)
Geographical information (Cont’d) wEER (&)
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of REEMEHESI DD BEEREEIERS
segment assets and Specific Non-current Assets and BEECREBEEYDE BEKSBZIAREZS
additions to property, plant and equipment, analysed by T
the geographical area in which the assets are located:
Additions to property,
Carrying amount of  plant and equipment Specified
segment assets ¥ - BER Non-current Assets
STEREEZREE BEZRE EEFRBEE
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
B _T-TF ZB——F _T-TF ZB——F _T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TAT TAET FAET THER TAT
Hong Kong B8 734,883 494,748 465 620 1,686 2,046
Other regions in the PRC A B E b b [ 51,512 38,432 380 100 29,327 28,057
786,395 533,180 845 720 31,013 30,103
Information about major customer BERETEEFEF2ER

Included in revenues arising from external sales of
accessories for photographic, electrical and multimedia
products of HK$189,451,000 (20710: HK$148,094,000)
are revenues of HK$21,425,000 (2010: HK$15,727,000)

ﬂ@l\%ﬁﬁﬁ”i@ ERRLEBERREHE
2 W= 189451000 T(ZE—FF !
148,094,000/ L) F BRERAAEE & AR
FREREEERE) FRE 2 HE lH

which arose from sales to the Group’s largest customer 21,425,000 70 (ZFE —FF  15727,000;&
(manufacture and sales of goods segment). JL) °
6. OTHER INCOME 6. HfWA
2011 2010
—EB——F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHT
Bank interest income HRITHLEUA 14 82
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - HE R
plant and equipment =i Wam 3 -
Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payments HERNEERIE 2 W 1,008 -
Sundry income HMIEI A 3,725 768

4,750 850
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BERE
2011 2010
— —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Interest on bank and other borrowings wholly 7B R FAREE R
repayable within five years RITREMEETE 401 S
8. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. KBial (BHE) &F
2011 2010
—E2——F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
This is stated after charging (crediting): BBk (5t A) LATIBE :
Allowance for inventories FERE 506 -
Allowance for trade and bills receivables FEWE 5 3IE R RN R IR RS 148 -
Amortisation of intangible assets EEE#HE = 2,054
Auditor’s remuneration ZERIEN S 1,200 1,552
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses BRERS 2 FEKA 142,551 104,084
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ « HE MREITE 1,224 1,576
Equity-settled share-based payment AR A 2 IR R 21,104 12,199
(Gain) Loss on disposal of property, HEME BERZEZ
plant and equipment (M) B8 (3) 33
Operating leases payments in respect of premises #)3EA&& 2 FH &30 3,530 2,084
Release of prepaid lease payments BREERIAERD 684 665
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments and ~ BEKA (BIEESME &
contributions to retirement benefits schemes RRREFFTEMERO 39,716 37,285
Exchange loss, net b H &8 - JFEE 203 9
Gross rental income from investment properties & &% 2 FAE AW A (1,347) (854)
Less: direct operating expenses that B EEESWAZ
generated rental income BELLHRY 666 663

(681)

(191)
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9. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS AND
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors

are as follows:

9. EEMERBESFMES

(a) ESM=

BN S EFOMRMT -

Rental paid/
rateable
value in
respect of
Retirement quarters
Salaries benefits ~ provided Share-based
andother  scheme B payments
Appointed Resigned benefits contribution  EEfiffz  URHA
Name of Director during the year during the year Fees FeR  BHEN A/ KR Bz Total
Esfs REREZ( RERRME e HftRA  HEMR E6EE i CHI
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn THR Tin
201
%
Executive Directors
#iEs
Au Yeung Kai Chor - 9 April 2010 - 2 1 12 - 35
BRI “E2-FEMANA
Peter Temple Whitelam - = - 514 - - - 514
Lam Suk Ping - - - 576 12 - - 588
R
Lo Yuen Wa Peter - - - 840 12 - - 852
EnE
Song Jiajia - - - 400 10 - - 410
REE
Woo Eddie - - - 936 12 - - 48
HHER
Non-Executive Director
FHTES
Chuang, Henry Yue Heng 7 February 2011 - 2 - - - - 2
R ZE2--FZAtH
Independent Non-Executive
Directors
BUFHTES
Chan Sze Hung - 3 May 2010 18 - - - - 18
Bt “2-ZFRA=A
Hui Wai Man, Shirley - 14 June 2010 24 - - - - 24
R “2-ZEAATOA
Miu Frank H. - - 120 - - - - 120
Que Agustin V. - - 142 - - - - 142
Robert James laia Il 18 June 2010 = 94 - - - - %
“E-ZEXATIA
Chien, Nelly Yung 7 February 2011 - 36 - - - - 36
#R ZE--EZAtH
461 3,288 47 12 - 3,808
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9. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS AND
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Cont'd)

9. EEMERBSFMES &)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Cont’d) (a) EEBM£ (&)
Rental paid/
rateable
value in
respect of
Retirement quarters  Share-based
Salaries benefits ~ provided  payments
andother  scheme shiR (note)
Appointed Resigned benefits contribution FEFINZ  RHGA
Name of Director during the year during the year Fees ek BINER BE/ER g Total
CEE RENEZRE REARHE we AR HEME  EWEE AR (D) CEH
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TiET TEL THEL THET THET TiET
2010
“T-%F
Executive Directors
YrES
Au Yeung Kai Chor - - - 900 12 480 223 1,615
BRI
Peter Temple Whitelam - - - 513 - - 112 625
Lam Suk Ping = = = 576 12 = 223 811
T
Lo Yuen Wa Peter - - - 840 12 - 223 1,075
ENE
Song Jiajia 16 June 2009 = = = = = = =
RER “EENERATAA
Woo Eddie 30 March 2010 = = = = = = =
HHER “Z-TE-A=1H
Independent Non-Executive
Directors
BUkHTES
Chan Sze Hung - - 200 - - - - 200
BRI%
Hui Wai Man, Shirley - - 120 - - - - 120
EE
Kristi L Swartz - 29 December 2009 90 - - - - 90
ZEENE
TZAZthA
Miu Frank H. 28 December 2009 - 30 - - - - 30
% = Lk
TZA=tNR
Que Agustin V. 27 January 2010 - - - - - - -
ZF-T5-A1+4A
440 2,829 36 480 781 4,566
Note: These represent the estimated value of share options granted MIsE : I AREAAT Z BIRET 2N T EE 2 IR

to the directors under the Company’s share option scheme

(note 32).

Z A (H:E32) -
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9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND 9. EEMEeRESFMES &)
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Cont'd)

(b)  Highest paid employees (b) ESHFMES

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two AEEREERFMATEEARAME (=

(2010: two) directors of the Company, details of whose E-—FF - HE)ES FRARSEHez7FE

emoluments are set out in note 9(a). The emoluments B AMFIE) e R =% (ZF—FF : =

remaining three (2070: three) highest paid individuals are ) BT ATZMEmT
as follows:

2011 2010

—E——F —ET-FF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FA&T

Salaries and other benefits Fre LEMET 8,140 6,598
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RGBT 2 =0 12 12
Rental allowance provided THe 2 AL EHE 960 960
9,112 7,570

The emoluments were within the following bands: eozEeEpEWT -

Number of individuals

AE

2011 2010
—g-——%  -T-%%
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,00187C £ 1,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7t 22,000,000/ 7T 2 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7T 24,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7T 25,500,000/ 7T 1 -
3
No director waived any emoluments during the year. No FAVEZEERETAME  -REBEZE_F——
incentive payment nor compensation for loss of office FZA=T—BLFE AKEHEREMNE
was paid or payable to any director and any of the above E Rk A& HE S X SN ERR

highest paid employees for the year ended 31 March 2011 BEARSSBMBEE (ZFE—FF  #) -

(2010: HK$ Nil).
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. FiSFHiBx

2011 2010
— —E-ZF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
The charge comprises: FriStiF s 845 -
Current tax BNEATR IR
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBMNEMH
Current year NEE 947 1,130
Overprovision in prior years B FE RS 9 -
Enterprise Income Tax of the PRC TS
Current year REE 1,747 461
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETE - 66
2,685 1,657
Deferred taxation EIERIA
Fair value adjustment (note 27) NEFE (KisE27) 635 -
Total tax expense for the year REERIBRAZ A 3,320 1,657

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2070:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the year.

Taxation arising in other regions in the PRC is calculated at
the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to Enterprise Income
Tax. PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at the
prevailing tax rate at 25% (20710: 25%) on taxable income

B2 IRITHEFH -

determined in accordance with the relevant laws and FHRAHE o

regulations in the PRC.

EBMEHRIIRERN 2 (e ERBORFIRH =X
16.5% (ZZE—ZF4F : 16.5%) itH -

T PR B L Al 3 [ B EE A 2 B IR D3R R B BDA KR
FENEARABANEEMAEHR - PELEM

BRI BEBEEG NMRBOIE TFEE 2’
R AIZ25% (—FE—ZF4F :25%) 2817
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont'd)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled
from (loss) profit before tax per the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income as follows:

10. FiIBHEX (&)

REEZFSHRAX ] BIREE S 2 EH K AR
RZBRTAT (B18) mAERRET

2011 2010
—E2——F —T-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
(Loss) Profit before tax Br#AT (B518) mAl (240,993) 110,507
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits tax rate of 16.5%  1R&EBFEHHE16.5%
(2010: 16.5%) (ZF—FF:165%)
HE A (39,764) 18,234
Non-deductible expenses AR 52 8,528 11,727
Tax exempt revenue BERBUA (438) (13,275)
(Over) underprovision in prior years BAFE (BEEE) BETR 9) 44
Unrecognised tax losses AT HERZ HIBER 34,546 1,604
Unrecognised temporary differences NFPHERZ LR =58 (535) (200)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised & & Bl A FE R 2 17 7% 15 18 - (16,735)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries FEEMRIEEREE 2
operating in other jurisdictions MBARZ TARRE 2 810 247
Recognition of previously unrecognised ERER T THERL
deferred tax liabilities EEMIEA R 187 -
Others HAtb (5) 11
Income tax expense for the year KEEFERHAS 3,320 1,657

At 31 March 2011, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$573,762,000 (20710: HK$364,392,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. All losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

11. DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been proposed by the board of directors

for the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010.

1. K2

R-TE——FZA=+—H  ZEEAEKR
R 2w ) 2 AR F B 18 & 18 /573,762,000
BT (ZFE—FF : 364,392,000;% ) - AR
A BRI EF - AW EERELEREE
E - FTAEERA BRI -

EEETEREMNBE_ZT——FR_ZT—FTF
=A=t—RIFEREEARE -
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12. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per
share attributable to owners of the parent is based on the
following data:

12. 8k (BE) &7

SREHEAARGEBRERNRES (B1R) &7
THRABIA T BURET &

2011 2010
—E2——F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
(Loss) Profit for the purpose of basic and diluted ~ F{EzTEFIRER Kk #hE
(loss) earnings per share (B8) Bz (B8) & (244,800) 108,631

Number of shares

REE
2011 2010
g5  -3-%¢
(restated)
(/=E5)
Weighted average number of ordinary RETEBIRER (B18)
shares for the purpose of basic (loss) B2 LR IR II &L

earnings per share

1,843,451,503 1,171,138,769

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BrEEETako w2
Share options FRRRRE - 450,044
Convertible notes AR - 21,249,680
Weighted average number of ordinary RETE SRS (518)
shares for the purpose of diluted (loss) B 2 LR hnsE T a2

earnings per share

1,843,451,503 1,192,838,493

The weighted average number of ordinary shares adopted
in the calculation of the basic and diluted earnings
per share for the year ended 31 March 2010 has been
adjusted to reflect the impact of the issue of bonus shares
effected in July 2010 as discussed in note 28(b).

For the year ended 31 March 2011, as there was an anti-
dilutive effect after adjusting for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares, diluted loss per share was the
same as the basic loss per share.

AEEREE T EF=RA=1t—"HLFEZS
P B K 858 2 M B 5RO 2 3 B I SF 15 BX
ERARE  URBMR_Z-—ZF+AET24
MREETT (BN EE28(b) P ) 2 & -

REBEZE_Z——F=A=+—HILEE #R
UMEBRESE SRR R EFLRABRRERE
REEZE BERBEBRESRELNERE
HE -



Mascotte Holdings Limited F5ETE&EE AR AR  Annual Report 2011 F 3R 75

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #& R R M=

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE—_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

13. REWHE

2011 2010
— —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT

At fair value /N |
At beginning of the year F40 20,350 18,639
Exchange adjustments bE 54, 8 B 792 -
Net changes in fair value N EE 1,008 1,711
At end of the year R 22,150 20,350

The carrying values of the Group's investment properties at
31 March 2011 are analysed as follows:

AREBZREMENR _—_E—F=A=+—H
ZEREEMTWT ¢

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T THET
Situated in the PRC R Bl AR AR R
held under medium-term leases 22,150 20,350

All of the Group's property interests in land held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
purpose are measured using the fair value model and are
classified and accounted for as investment properties.

The investment properties have been valued as at
31 March 2011 on the basis carried out at that date
by Chung, Chan & Associates, Chartered Surveyors,
independent qualified professional valuers not connected
with the Group, who are members of Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors and have appropriate qualifications and recent
experiences in the valuation of properties in the relevant
locations. The valuation, which conforms to Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors Valuation Standards, was arrived
at using two primary methods, namely the comparison
approach and the income capitalisation approach.

Certain of the Group's investment properties are rented
out under operating leases.

Details of the investment properties are set out on page
112.

AEBFRAASERESHENEERNMZRE
SHEREN LR RS IR A FERNG
B WINEARGAREYE -

REWER _T——F=—A=+—HC AR
REMBEET BUAEREXMGLEM) BE
FETHEMNEEME KEFEREERER
BoYRBENEMBEEER AEAEE
1% AT EHERBBEYEOLR - HE
NEBRBAEMBENMHELER  AEMALR
ENBABEFTE AN EMEEAR T IAMES °

AEBETREVEDRELEHERD -

KBREMEFBHNE 1128 -



76 Mascotte Holdings Limited F5HTE&£EHR A A © Annual Report 2011 i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt &R RMIEE
For the year ended 31 March 2011 HEZE—ZT——F=fF=+—HIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y- BERRKE

The Group rE
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Leasehold and Plant and
buildings  improve- equipment machinery Motor
HELH ments Rk £B BER vehicles Total
kBT  HEHEES e w3 RE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET TAT FAET FET TAT
Recondiliation of carrying ARE{E 2 HHR —
amount - year ended BE-_T-TF
31 March 2010 =A=1+—H
HFE
At beginning of the year 1] 3,128 373 585 348 1,514 5,948
Additions NE - - 144 108 468 720
Disposals HE - - - = (42) (42)
Depreciation e (339) (73) (150) (355) (659) (1,576)
At end of the reporting period FREHIER 2,789 300 579 101 1,281 5,050
Reconciliation of carrying  BREIE 2 ¥k —
amount - year ended BE-E——&§
31 March 2011 =A=+—H
HFE
At beginning of the year F4) 2,789 300 579 101 1,281 5,050
Additions NE - 201 476 168 - 845
Disposals HeE = - - (9) - 9)
Depreciation & (352) (88) (199) ) (578) (1,224)
Exchange difference bE X = 123 8 1 - 1 133
At end of the RELEHR
reporting period 2,560 421 857 253 704 4,795
At 1 April 2010 RZZE-ZF
mAE—A
Cost %N 7,032 2,296 2,897 19,032 6,379 37,636
Accumulated depreciation ZHE (4,243) (1,996) (2,318) (18,931) (5,098) (32,586)
2,789 300 579 101 1,281 5,050
At 31 March 2011 R-E—F
=RA=+—H
Cost B 7,343 2,527 3,380 19,769 6,445 39,464
Accumulated depreciation 2irE (4,783) (2,106) (2,523) (19,516) (5,741) (34,669)
2,560 421 857 253 704 4,795
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Cont’d)

The Group (Cont’d)

The above item of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on straight-line basis at the following rates per
annum:

Leasehold land and Over the estimated useful
buildings lives of 50 years or the terms
of the leases or the term of the
relevant sino-foreign equity joint
venture by which the buildings
are held, whichever is the shorter

Leasehold improvements 15% or the unexpired
terms of the leases, if shorter
Furniture, fixtures and 15%
equipment
Plant and machinery 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

The carrying values of the Group’s leasehold land and

14. ¥ BERSRKE &)

r&EH (&)

ERE BRI E AR TSI R

BHE

HETNET

MEEE
BRI~ KER&E

JTEE

IG5 A] fE A & Hi50F sl
EFHSMTETNER
RINEEREN ABRE
ERE)

15% IR TH & 2 K & i & 5

(ABFGE RE)
15%
20%
20%

AEBEELHEEFR _T——F=A=+

buildings at 31 March 2011 are analysed as follows: —HAMEREES AT -
2011 2010
—e—-5  -—T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Situated in the PRC held under BRPHEEEPEREE

medium-term leases

2,560 2,789
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% BERSK®E (&)
(Cont’d)
The Company b N/NE
Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment
&M KB
k&G
HK$'000
FHET
Reconciliation of carrying amount — year ended FREBEZHER -—8#E_T—F
31 March 2010 ZA=+—HLEEE
At beginning of the year F1) 37
Depreciation e (6)
At end of the reporting period RS ER 31
Reconciliation of carrying amount - year ended BREEZHE - BE_—T——4F
31 March 2011 ZA=t—HLEE
At beginning of the year F1) 31
Additions NE 31
Depreciation e (9)
At end of the reporting period REEHR 53
At 1 April 2010 R_ZE—TFMNA—H
Cost B 40
Accumulated depreciation ZEHITE 9)
31
At 31 March 2011 R=-ZB——%=A=+—H
Cost AN 71
Accumulated depreciation SEITE (18)
53
The Company’s furniture, fixture and equipment are RATHEM - HKERZRBAERERFEIS%

depreciated on straight-line basis at a rate of 15% per STETE -

annum.
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15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 15. FENHEERE
2011 2010
—E-—F —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET AT
Leasehold interests in land in the PRC BREEEEFESEN
under medium-term lease TR E R 4,737 5,368
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MEmMMIEN DT
Current VL) 669 665
Non-current JEME 4,068 4,703
4,737 5,368
16. GOODWILL 16. HE
HK$'000
FAT
Cost R
At 1 April 2009, 1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 RZZEZNFHA—AB -
—E-TFPA-BK
—E——F=H=+—H 7,042
Impairment WA
At 1 April 2009, 1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 RZZETAFWOA—H -
—ET-FTFPH—BK
—E——%=RA=+—H 7,042
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 March 2010 and 2011 NEBE—ZFER_FT——F
—A=+—H -
For the purpose of impairment testing in previous years, 15 Eifgﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬁ?—fﬁﬁf HMESREENSEE
goodwill was allocated to an individual cash generating ERHEEmMMN B IRSELEN -

unit (CGU) which was engaged in manufacture and sales
of goods.
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17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL 17. AHEHENBEE
ASSETS
The Group The Company
rEH b N
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E2——-F —E-FTF —E—-F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT FET FHET
Unlisted equity investments, 3E FTRAKRE -
at cost B AME 81,000 45,000 25,000 25,000
Unlisted equity investments represented the Group's FELTRAKRERANEERN —BELAREAES
investments in a private equity fund and a private group R—RREZFCLEBLREREREZMAE
engaged in securities brokerage and provision of finance. EriRE AR ZERERRKRERZMS
They are stated at cost less impairment loss at the end NI mmE - BRBASEATESEEREK
of each reporting period because they do not have a B EERBEERFERENFEHETE -
quoted market price in an active market and the range R EWMEARZERERK AR B EEE
of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that HIME -

directors are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be
measured reliably.

No impairment loss has been provided in respect of the I gk _Eat B TS B E SR AR EEE -
above financial assets.
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

18. RMIBAR2RE

2011 2010

—e——%  -T-TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH T THIT

Unlisted shares, at cost IE TR - HREANE 89,261 89,261

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March

2011 were as follows:

Place of
incorporation

BRBFBAOT

Issued and fully

paid ordinary
share capital/
registered and
contributed

Attributable
equity interest

R-ZF——F=A=+—8 ARAZEEH

or registration/ capital held by
operation ERITRHR the Group

Name FE AR LR ZERRAE KREBEFTE  Principal activities

8 B EELY A REMER EERAER IEXK

Direct subsidiaries

EERE R

Mascotte Group Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$100 100% Investment holding

Hong Kong 10037 REEZR
RBETESE BF

Indirect subsidiaries

I 1EHTE 2 &)

Dongguan Tak Ya Leather ~ PRC HK$10,400,000 76.9%  Manufacture of
Goods Manufactory 2] 10,400,000/ 7T (note b) accessories for
Limited (note a) (ft7ED) photographic,
SEMER B2 R electrical and
BRG] (Kizka) multimedia products

FUERRME - B REE
BEMLH

Greatest Splendour British Virgin Islands/ Us$100 100%  Loan financing

Investment Limited Hong Kong 100%7T EXEE
RBETESE BF

Mascotte Industrial British Virgin Islands/ Us$4 100% Investment holding

Associates Group Limited ~ Hong Kong 47T WEZERR

KBRS /B8
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18.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

2011 were as follows: (Cont’d)

Place of
incorporation

JN}:H{

Brm

Issued and fully
paid ordinary
share capital/

registered and
contributed

B BHmRME

18. RMBRATZIRE (&)

——H=ZA=+—B ARRZEEM
EACTUNNENG )

Attributable
equity interest

or registration/ capital held by
operation ERITRAR the Group

Name FE AR L3R ZERBRAE KREBEFE  Principal activities

%8 B EELY A REMER EEREAER IEXK

Indirect subsidiaries (Cont’d)

@A A (8)

Mascotte Industrial Hong Kong HK$2 100%  Trading of accessories
Associates (Hong Kong) &4 28T for photographic,
Limited Electrical and

BB (F%8) BRAR] multimedia products

BEERNE  E8KkZFK
REMEG

Mascotte Zhi Hao PRC US$4,180,000 90%  Property holding
Photographic Equipment A 4,180,0003< 7T and manufacture
(Hui Zhou) Co. Ltd (note a) of accessories for
HHTE ERRAEEM photographic,
(M) BRAR] (Mi5Ea) electrical and

multimedia products
FrB YRR BUERA
B RZHEBEMA
(&5
Mascotte Hui Zhou Limited  British Virgin Islands/ US$1 100% Investment holding
PRC 17T REZER
REBREAHSE H
Newland Kingdom Limited  Hong Kong HK$9,998 100% Inactive
¥R AR A A] BB HK$2* ama
9,998/ 87T
28T
Orient Stone Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 100% Investment holding
Hong Kong (E" REER
ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ%/ i

Tak Ya Leather Goods British Virgin Islands/ US$1 100% Investment holding

Manufactory Limited 17T REFE

E’EJE

RERE /HH
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March
2011 were as follows: (Cont’d)

18. RMBRARIZ2RE (&)

RIB——F=A=+—B ARAIZTEMH
BRBFBHOT (&)

Issued and fully
paid ordinary
share capital/

Place of
incorporation

registered and
contributed

Attributable
equity interest

or registration/ capital held by
operation CRITREZE the Group
Name AR S Bk ZEBRRA KREBEFTE  Principal activities
=1 i EELE ZRREHEER EERETER ITEXEK
Indirect subsidia!;ies (Cont’d)
EEEHE 2 A (&)
Time Beyond Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100%  Loan financing
REBRAA i 1,000,000 7T EXEE
Union Glory Finance Inc. British Virgin Islands/ US$1 100%  Loan financing and
Hong Kong 1E7T _investments
REBEZESE BF ERREMRE
& These represent non-voting deferred shares (note c). * U BIERZEELR D (Hiitc) -
Notes: Bk
@) These companies are sino-foreign equity joint ventures. (a) ZERBIBTINEEEGERT]
(b) Dongguan Tak Ya Leather Goods Manufactory Limited was (b) R EHE ERRBAER AR AAEEE
established by the Group with an independent party in the FE=FERBKY - RIBFEFEEEFRI L ZH
PRC. Under various agreements entered into with the PRC B AEEITREE-_ZT—F+_-_A=1+
party, the Group is entitled to all of the profits derived from —HIEZAREEEBAGEZ2mF]
its operations up to 31 December 2011.
(0 These deferred shares, which are not held by the Group, (c) ZEVIIEHAERFEZELERNERTIAZR

practically carry no rights to dividends and no rights to
receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general meeting
of the respective companies. On winding up, the holders
of the deferred shares are entitled to distribution out of the
remaining assets of the respective companies only after the
distribution of substantial amounts as specified in the Articles
of Associations to holders of ordinary shares of the respective
companies.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities in issue
at any time during the years ended 31 March 2011 and

2010.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company

which,

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected

the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

B - TERNEBEMAR 2 EARRASZAE
SREFEZERGHRELRE - NERE - B
D 2 758 ARG A RIABEZMANZRE
AE AR ZEBEREEADIRAMD FIRK SR
BRESHIKEBRARZNREE -

REBEE-_T——EFER " FT—ZFTF=H=+—H
HFER  BEEEAH BRI ZEITERERE
%0

EER5 ERFIIDARBZEEHBR
Al HAKRECAFEXEREZEEZEYE
RARBAIMN 2 EEFE - EFZRR - Haf
AMEABHE R RS E A BN IR
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. BAVEFABGRZMBEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
The Group The Company
PN | YN
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E--F —B-FF —B--f —2-FF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Pt TER FET TEn THET
Investments held for trading BEEERE
— Equity securities, — BBz T
listed in Hong Kong BREs (a) 484,825 343,445 482,807 337,289
Investments designated as fair R & REREIETE A
value through profit or loss BATERA
upon initial recognition BaksiRE
— Unlisted convertible notes — JE LAk
= (b) 61,180 14,203 61,180 14,203
546,005 357,648 543,987 351,492

(@)  The fair value of listed equity securities is based on (@) FTMHEREBFHEZAFETIERRS A
quoted market prices in active markets at the end RERERTIGFAMMEMETE °
of the reporting period.

(b)  The fair value of unlisted convertible notes at the by RBEHEHRZIELTIUBRBREEZA
end of reporting period has been measured by an FEITBEBYEEBBEEGHEMEET
independent qualified professional valuer, Asset BEEBBRAR  EREBEMISI M
Appraisal Limited, based on reliable estimates of Gz A EMEMFTMETE °
prices obtained in actual market transactions.

20. INVENTORIES 20. 78

2011 2010
—E2——F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHAT FHIT

Raw materials R 5,157 5,157

Work-in-progress EE R 1,983 1,504

Finished goods Bk 4,664 2,066

11,804 8,727

All inventories, excluding those fully provided for with nil FEFE (BEEL 28R EREEEATER

carrying value, are stated at cost. HN) THIRCAR BT BR ©
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21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

21. BEHWEZREREBERER

2011 2010

=B —F —E-TF

Note HK$'000 HK$’000

i Tz T

Trade and bills receivables FEUE 52008 R e ZE i e o
Less: Allowances for doubtful debts A RERRYE b) e e
36,825 20,258

(@) Ageing analysis

The Group allowed a credit period ranging from 30 days
to 150 days to its trade customers. The ageing analysis of
trade and bills receivables (net of allowances for doubtful
debts) is as follows:

(a) FRERTHT

AEBAREESEPREMHN FI0BEI150HZ
EEH - BEESFEANMEKER (KRR
) ZREDHINT

2011 2010
—g——5  —T-Tf
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT FAIT
Ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables:  fEULE 578 K BN E 1% ~
BRER AT ¢

Within 60 days 60H A 25,243 14,056
61— 150 days 612150H 9,841 4812
More than 150 days 1508 LA | 1,741 1,390
36,825 20,258

(b)  Allowances for doubtful debts (b) REREHE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FETT
At beginning of the year REF] 7,987 7,987
Increase in allowance BB 148 =
Uncollectible amounts written off JiEE T BT U [a] FhIE (5,173) -
At end of the year R 2,962 7,987

Impairment losses in respect of trade and bills receivables
are recorded using an allowance account unless the Group
is satisfied that the recovery of the amount is remote,
in which the impairment loss is written off against trade
receivables directly.

All allowances for doubtful debts as at 31 March 2011
and 2010 were made for specific unsecured trade
receivables, which recoverability is considered doubtful by
the directors. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

FEUE 5 3018 M R R 1B 2 IR (B B 18 X 3B A R
MR - BRIFAKEME B RIE AR IR 2 A
BEMRE - AIERBRT  FRREBERKE
& B R E Z 5 IEME

RIB——FR-_T-—"TF=HA=+—HHOMR
BREBREB DS EEETEWE S RIAE
b EXTEBREABRESLTAINKE - K&
B30 52 FAE R B (AR o



86 Mascotte Holdings Limited FFET S &£E AR A F  Annual Report 2011 53k

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt &R RMIEE
For the year ended 31 March 2011 HEZE—ZT——F=fF=+—HIFE

21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(Cont’d)

(c) Trade and bills receivables that are not
impaired

The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables that
neither individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired is as follows:

21. BWESZRERERREE &)

() MMEREZEWEZREAREVRRE

198 37 Sk KR AR AR E 2 B W E 5 3R K
EMER BT -

2011 2010

=F——F —FFF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHET FHET

Neither past due nor impaired B EE BT AR (E 32,417 10,216
Within 90 days past due BHI90H A 3,089 9,348
More than 90 days past due BHA90H LA £ 1,319 694
36,825 20,258

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the
directors believe that no impairment allowance is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered fully receivable. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

MEARTRREEBEFBESREZZES -
A ETE P EIE R -

ERMERRENERRBESRZZBILE
Fr MZEEFPEAKSBERAERINXSA
i RIBEELR EERRBENEEERYL
BEAEY  HRAR/ZSFEHK I 2E8HD -
Rt BB FRERIELRERE - AKEL
B A FERFTH EMERR
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22. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 22. BEREREEWFE
The Group The Company
F5E VN
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——-F —TFF —E—-F “T-FF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bzt TET FHT TER TBT
Fixed-rate loan receivables ElREBER 30,000 11,929 - =
Variable-rate loan receivables EUCZEED 22,500 72,500 - =
52,500 84,429 - -
Interest receivables JEUF) 2 978 285 = =
53,478 84,714 - -
Less: Impairment allowance o ORERHE (@) (22,500) (22,500) = =
30,978 62,214 _ _
Less: Balance due within A —FREIET A
one year included in MEEEL
current assets Zxd] (30,978) (50,285) = =
Balance due after one year —FR3IE5 B
included in non-current assets FRBEE 2 45 - 11,929 = =
Effective interest rate: EIRF= -
Fixed-rate loan receivables BT BEK 5% to 15% 20% N/A N/A
per annum per annum TER A
ERE5%Z15% FF1E20%
Variable-rate loan receivables JEUOF BB Hong Kong Hong Kong N/A N/A
HSBC HSBC TER TEA
Prime rate Prime rate
plus 6% plus 2%
EREERT BHEZEN
BEER= RERFE
6% 2%
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22. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
(Cont’d)

(a) Impairment allowance

The Group determines the allowance for impaired debts
based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing
analysis of accounts and on management’s judgement,
including assessment of change of credit quality, collaterals
and the past collection history of each borrower.

Movement in allowance for impaired debts is as follows:

22. BERERKRERFE &)

(a) HERE

AREBEREH A BEFR R ENE 2 5 KRR
IMARERBZHE (BRYBZEBRAZE
EE R KM M E YRR )
BEREER < B -

EER#EE I EESHMT

The Group The Company
r5E VNS
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF —E——-F —T-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET TER FET
Balance at beginning FARES
of the year 22,500 182,500 - 160,000
Decrease in respect of W_E—TF
reassignment of B EREE
debt in 2010 2D = (160,000) - (160,000)
Balance at end of the year FERER 22,500 22,500 - =

(b) Loan and interest receivables that are not
impaired

The ageing analysis of loan and interest receivables that
neither individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired is as follows:

(b) RBEZERERKERFE

I 45 ST o R AR A M P B B R R
FE2 ERAIIT :

2011 2010

2 —T-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Neither past due nor impaired BEa BT AR (E 30,978 62,214

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of borrowers for whom there was no
recent history of default. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances. These loans are repayable
within 6 months.

150 48 280 3 7 R ORG (B 2 B MK R R B3 B I S 4 R
R ZRERANER -  AEBYERZFTE
A EIA AR - ZFEERARNEARE
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23. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS

Included in other receivables and prepayments of the
Group is an amount of HK$1,384,000 (2010: HK$291,000)
receivable from a key management personnel, who is also
a director of a subsidiary of the Company. The amount
due is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed repayment
term. The maximum amount outstanding during the year
is HK$1,384,000.

All other receivables and prepayments are expected to be
recovered within one year.

24. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash earn interests at floating rates
based on daily bank deposit rates.

25. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

23. HMEWRERAMNRE

AEB 7 HMBRBKRBELRBNRIERBIERE
W—2FTEZEEBAE (MAAAR—HKBA
AlZEBE) ZNIE1,384,0008 T (ZE—F
F:291,00087L) c BEEARBERAELRE . &
BENEBEETERP FAZAEERSSBHA
1,384,000/ 7T °

AT B A UK IB R IR IR TERT R —F A
Yem e

24, RITHEBRRE

RITEBRR S DIRBTEBERFE 2 TH
JEEE

25. PEAFIELEEE

2011 2010
—E-—F —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Assets classified as held for sale DERFELEERE

Intangible assets B EE - 127,984
Less: Impairment allowance B R ERE = (48,742)
- 79,242

Liabilities directly associated with assets EOBEAREHEEERR
classified as held for sale B aE - 42

The assets classified as held for sale as stated in year 2010
represented the rights to (i) obtain the 50% of forestry
land use rights and forestry trees entitlement of three
forestry sites in Simao District, Puer City Yunnan Province,
the PRC and (i) share 50% of distributable profits of these
forests held by a then subsidiary, which was disposed of
during the year to a wholly-owned subsidiary of Forefront
Group Limited (“Forefront”), a company whose shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange at a consideration of
HK$79.2 million. The consideration of which was satisfied
by the issuance of 330 million new shares of Forefront at
HK$0.24 each.

—E-ZEFMHE OB ARBELEBEERE
TS SE2EN: )V EFEERE L)
MBRZE=H ZFRM Z250%H i F B # & RAR
FFEERNZEER —HNBARMBAEL
ZEBRMZ50% A DB mF - W B AR
REALETRAEEBRAR([RBA]
ERMRBRALEM) c—RE2EWBRA] -
K {8 579,200,000/ jT - A B KB LA 3 17
330,000,000/ FAXE1EO.2478 7T 2 18 7 #T AR
ZARNE o
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26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. BENESZFIEA
2011 2010
—E-—F —E-ZF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Ageing analysis of trade payables: e B B FIRZ BRI DT -
Within 60 days or on demand 60 Ak EEKER 10,724 9,214
61 — 150 days 61£2150H 768 20
More than 150 days 1508 BA 97 93
11,589 9,327
27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 27. BEBEER
The movement for the year in the Group’s net deferred tax FRNAEEEEFHBEEEFEEHOT ¢
liabilities is as follows:
2011 2010
- —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Charge to profit or loss (Note 10) T AERER (M15E10) 635 -
Recognised deferred tax liabilities at the end of the RBEHHRBRAZECHEARRREME

reporting period represented fair value adjustment on N FERE -
investment properties.
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28. SHARE CAPITAL

Movements during the year in the share capital of the

Company were as follows:

28.

EEIN

RAEE » RRRRAREEHIMT

Number of shares Nominal value
igrip e [ELE
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF —E——-F —T-TF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
(o TER FET
Ordinary shares of FRMEE.10ETT
HK$0.10 each: LA
Authorised: EERE
At 1 April and 31 March REUA—B K
=R=+—H 10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BRETRBERE
At beginning of the year REA] 590,516,416 285,924,015 59,052 28,592
Issue of shares upon EREREE
conversion of convertible R BmmET
notes, net of expenses B&D (B Y) - 260,000,000 - 26,000
Issue of new shares BITHR (@) 109,184,800 = 10,919 -
Issue of bonus shares BATHIIR (b) 1,049,551,824 = 104,955 =
Issue of shares upon exercise TR
of share options B (0 201,425,304 44,592,401 20,142 4,460
Subscription of new shares R (d) 354,100,608 - 35,410 -
Atend of the reporting period  RA¥REE HIERR 2,304,778,952 590,516,416 230,478 59,052
Notes: PiaE
@) On 28 April 2010, the Company allotted and issued an (a) RZZE—ZTFWNA=—+NHB ' "AFIZ0.998 T
aggregate of 109,184,800 ordinary shares for cash at a price 2 (BIRBCEE 2 3174 $£109,184,8004% & 38 A& LA
of HK$0.99. BEIR G o
(b) On 29 July 2010, the directors of the Company have (b) RZE—ZTFLtA-+NB  ARRESERIE
recommended a bonus issue of three new shares, credited RZE—TFELA=-TNBRIERAFTRRAM
as fully paid, for every two shares held by the shareholders LR R IR G A AR AR (0 B = iR AR (%]
of the Company whose names appear on the register of BRBBERNR) 2 BEEFITLAMR - ZBLHDE
members of the Company on 29 July 2010. This arrangement BRERZZE-ZFL AT N BRI ZREF
was duly passed by the shareholders by way of poll at the AELEUREFANERNBB - FADETEHE
Special General Meeting held on 29 July 2010. An aggregate 1,049,551,824 R AT R °
of 1,049,551,824 bonus shares were issued during the year.
© During the year, an aggregate of 201,425,304 share options (0) FR - A F£201,425,3041 B & H B IRAE (R4
granted (after the adjustment of bonus shares) (note 32) were ARYEH A EE1E) (W%IBZ) R I%E AA%0.38278
exercised at the exercise price of HK$0.382 — HK$0.396 per JLE0.396 BT Z TR EEITH -

ordinary share.

(d) On 28 January 2011,

All ordinary shares rank equally with one vote attached to FrIEER

the Company entered into a (d)
subscription agreement with Improve Forever Investments
Limited (“Improve Forever”), which is 100% beneficially
owned by Mr. Samuel Yang and issued an aggregate of
354,100,608 ordinary shares for cash to Improve Forever at
a price of HK$0.40 per share for funding capital expenditure
and working capital of the Company in relation to potential
investments in the renewable energy related industry.

each fully paid ordinary share.

R=ZT——F—A=+/\B ' XA A Elmprove
Forever Investments Limited ([Improve
Forever | ' miZRE LA B S L100% )
Al REE M - WIRERARD0.408 7T 2 (B [A
Improve Forever#17& #£354,100,608% & %
AR & - ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁéﬁiﬁTﬁEﬁuﬁ* LERE 4
BERBEEMZARAEAAXREEES °

B ZEFREFMA - FREE & RK

BiE —RERE -
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29. RESERVES 29. f#fE
The Company b N/NE|
Share  Share option  Contributed  Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses Total
RiaE BRERE N ZitER a3t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 TEn TAT TATL TAT TAT
At 1 April 2009 RZZENENA—A 560,236 - 72,201 (372,695) 259,742
Profit for the year ERRT - - - 102,058 102,058
Recognition of equity-settled RINEREE
share-based payment RIONE = 12,199 - = 12,199
Issue of shares upon conversion of EATRREER
convertible notes, net of expenses BIRM CNBES) 104,000 = = = 104,000
Issue of shares upon exercise of T RREREIRG
share options 49,649 (9,961) - - 39,688
At 31 March 2010 R-E2-ZE=A=1—H 713,885 2,238 72,201 (270,637) 517,687
At 1 April 2010 RZF-ZFNA-H 713,885 2238 72,201 (270,637) 517,687
Loss for the year EEER - - - (244373) (244373)
Recognition of equity-settled BRNERER L
share-based payment [ ANE N 32 - 21,104 - - 21,104
Issue of shares, net of expenses BIRG (MBREY) 28(a) 94,267 = = = 94,267
Issue of bonus shares BT 28(h) (104,955) = - = (104,955)
Issue of shares upon exercise of T RREREIRG
share options 28(0) 80,430 (23,287) - - 57,143
Subscription of new shares AR 28(d) 106,230 - = = 106,230
At 31 March 2011 RZE--£=f=+-H 889,857 55 72,201 (515,010) 447,103
Note: The contributed surplus represents the difference between the Bt : BMARBEARFMNBARNARRERERZ

consolidated shareholders’ funds of the Company’s subsidiary
at the date on which the Company reorganisation became
effective and the nominal amount of the share capital of the
Company issued under the Company reorganisation on 5
September 1997.

BZHGEERRESEARTAR-NANEFNAAR
HEBBEEMETZARRREZEE L HNZE
Ll
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30. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 30. REHELTH
As lessee: EREFEA -
At 31 March 2011, the Group and the Company had R_ZF——F=A=+—"H AEERAKLQF

REFMEBYE 2 TAIBGEEEHERAT
FEXNZBRKERSAENT :

commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented
premises which fall due as follows:

The Group The Company
rEE AN

2011 2010 2011 2010

e —E-TF —E-——F —E-ZF

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FBT FTHET FET

Within one year —FNRN 1,561 1,867 87 140
In the second to fifth year F_ZFHE

inclusive (BIEEEMS) 447 1,489 - =

2,008 3,356 87 140

Leases are negotiated for term of one to five year with
fixed monthly rentals over the lease term.

As lessor:

R cHEFHAE—FE20%F  RHEEFH
NERABNEERES -

ERHAAX :

AEERBEEHELHEREYSE - HAAH
M - RIFFAIREFEEHEZ BRERRE

The Group leases out its investment properties under
operating leases with lease term of two years. The

future aggregate minimum rental receivables under non- MEBEET -
cancellable operating leases are as follows:
The Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E2—-F —TTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Within one year —F R 566 1,085
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EELTF (BREEEMT) - 542
566 1,627
31. MARGIN FACILITIES 31. HFEEE
Margin facilities of HK$234,221,000 (2070: $;‘%l?é_ﬁﬁx%,ﬁfé T (CFE—F
HK$168,870,000) from three regulated securities brokers F: —AREEESELT) RTHREER
(2010: a regulated securities broker) were granted to the 234,221,000% 7T (_ F—FF 168,870,000

Er) B BATESABREY WKEE
546,005,000 70 (= & — L F - 354442000
BoT) DERFIEEE 2BEH M - 6 2£526,000
BT (ZF—FF : #) 2EECHSA - BE
;zaébﬁﬁf*; W TELLLTZ2EAFE
FFABREE MK EE ZRHEEA28,588,000
BT (ZF— ffﬁ #E) o % E@Jﬂﬂgfﬂﬁz
7236% L FEE (ZF—FF : )R

Group under which financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$546,005,000 (2010: HK$354,442,000)
were treated as collateral for the facilities granted.
Aggregate of HK$526,000 (2010: HK$ Nil) facilities were
utilised and the carrying amount of the financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss charged under the utilised
facilities to a securities broker is HK$28,588,000 (20710:
HKS$ Nil). The utilised facilities bear interest rate at 7.236%
per annum (2070: Nil).
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme (the
“Scheme"”) adopted on 21 August 2003, for the primary
purpose of providing incentive to directors and eligible
employees and suppliers of goods or services of the
Group and which will expire 10 years after the date of
adoption, the board of directors of the Company may,
at its discretion, grant options to consultants and eligible
employees, including executive directors, of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries to subscribe for shares in the
Company at a price of (i) the closing price of the shares
of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant of the option,
which must be a trading day or (i) the average of the
closing prices of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant
of the options or (iii) the nominal value of the shares,
whichever is the higher.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted (together with options exercised
and options then outstanding) under the Scheme shall not,
when aggregated with any shares subject to any other
schemes, exceed 30% of the total number of the issued
share of the Company from time to time. The shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to
be granted under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the
shares in issue on the day of approval by shareholders of
the Company.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted to each participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
cannot exceed 1% of the total number of the issued share
of the Company. Upon acceptance of option, the grantee
shall pay HK$1 to the Company by way of consideration of
the grant. An option may be exercised at any time during
the validity period of the options.

32. BRI

ARaR—_EE=ZFN\NA -+ —BHEMN—IAE
PRERTEl ([ZETE]) HEEZEMARES -
AEREERASEZE MRS HER IR
15E) > Mzt 2N RN B HR10FEEm - R
Bzt ARRESSARBRARRHE
TR B AR ZERNAERESR (BIEHIT
BEE)RTHEREARBARRZKRG @ BF
AORHERERR (EARSH) BHEBR
P2 W B sk(in) 252 4% H BB AR 4 B BR AT AL (B 2
S BRMEB ATz FHWmESKGINRDEE
—EZEEE

REZAE A REERE CERERETER
R R 2 BB RCHE) PSP I 2 B 8B ERR -
mEEREMERL ZED - A5t T REBE
AR RN B BT 20D #30% ° RIBZET
S| M AR AT E A BB A R 8% T IR h 2 P
ERBRBETERAIBRITZERG  TREBEER
NEIRRIAEE BEBTRMD 210% °

REM+ZEAME RT&28E 2 BRE
(BREETERFKRITESE) AR 2RNHEE
FRABEBBARBERTRNERZ1% - 1
EMBRER  ARAEARARBERERARD
A 1B TTERRIE o BRI R AR &
HARBERT 1T
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Cont'd) 32. BRI (@)
(@) Movements in share option scheme: (a) BRETEISE .
Adjustments
on issue Share price  Share price
Name of As at of bonus Granted Exercised As at atthedate  atthe date
category of 1 April 2010 shares during during 31 March 2011 Exercise of grant  of exercise
participant Dateofgrant ~ R=5-%%  REFLR the year theyear R-F--% Pricc  RREAH  WIFERH
SRERHER RiLAH mA-H k1S FRRL Empfif =B=1-A i3 ZRE ZRE
(note i) (note ii) (note i) (note iv)
(FzH) (Wi (i) (Bifzkiv)
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT e
Executive directors
g%
Mr. Peter Temple 3 March 2010 500,000 750,000 - (1,250,000) - 0.3% 0.3% 0420
Whitelam —E-ZF (note ii) (note il
Peter Temple Whitelm ~ =f=p (HzEi) (M3ki)
i3
Mr. Lo Yuen Wa Peter 3 March 2010 1,000,000 1,500,000 - (2,500,000) - 03% 0.3% 0420
ENERE it S 2 (note i (note i)
=A=H (W) k2
Mr. Au Yeung Kai Chor 3 March 2010 1,000,000 1,500,000 - (2,500,000) - 0.3% 0.3% 0.420
(note v) —E-%k (note ii) (note ii)
BBRLE ()  =p=R (W) (i)
Mr. Lam Suk Ping 3 March 2010 1,000,000 1,500,000 - (2,500,000) - 0.3% 0.3% 0.420
AT 3% (note i) (note i)
=A=H (W) (W)
Staff and consultants 3 March 2010 6,500,000 9,750,000 - (15,625,000) 625,000 0.3% 03%  0.420/0.540
EERER -3-% (note i) (note i)
=A=m (W) (W)
Dr. Chuang Henry 26 Novernber 2010 - - 17,500,000  (17,500,000) - 0382 0.365 0470
Yueheng (notev)  -—B-&
BREML (K +potm
Consultants 26 Novernber 2010 - - 159,550,304  (159,550,304) - 0382 0.365 0470
El ZE-%F
+-B=tAR
Weighted average 0.3% 0.3% 0382 0.384 0.3%
exercise price (HKS) (note il (note il (note il
METIEE (A7) (W) (WzFii) (W)
The weighted average share price of the share options RERTTEBITERBRER 2 NETHRER
exercised during the year at the dates of exercise is 0.464% 70 (ZF —F4F : 0.396)8 7T + RALIR
HK$0.464 (2010: HK$0.396, revised following the BITE—FE—FFEHAEXENEET) o

implementation of the issue of bonus shares effected in
July 20170.)
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Cont'd)

(a) Movements in share option scheme: (Cont’d)

Notes:

(i) The share options are fully vested upon the date of grant on
3 March 2010 and 26 November 2010 and may be exercised
in whole or in part by the respective grantees at any time not
later than 2 March 2020 and 25 November 2020 respectively.

(ii) Following the implementation of the issue of bonus share

effected in July 2010, the exercise price of the share options
and the number of ordinary shares to be allotted and issued
upon exercise in full of the subscription rights attaching to
the outstanding options are adjusted accordingly.

(iii) The share price at the date of grant is the Stock Exchange
closing price on the trading day immediately prior to the
date of the grant of the options subject to the adjustments
resulted from the issue of bonus share effected in July 2010.

(iv) The share price at the date of exercise is the Stock Exchange
closing price on the trading date at the date of exercise of
the options during the year ended 31 March 2011.

(v) Mr. Au Yeung Kai Chor resigned as a director of the Company
with effect from 9 April 2010.

(vi) Dr. Chuang Henry Yueheng was appointed as a director of
the Company on 7 February 2011.

(b) Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of share option granted under the share
option scheme at the grant date on 3 March 2010 was
HK$0.223 per share option, which is calculated using the
Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model with the following
inputs:

Grant date share price: HK$0.99
Exercise price: HK$0.99
Dividend yield: 0%
Expected volatility: 80.99%
Expected life: 0.5 year
Risk-free rate: 0.17%

32.
(a)
BE

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(b)

R 4
BRETERE : (&)

ERENREBE-_E—ZTF=A=HE =

ZFE+—A -+ NBEZHEE ]ITEER%&‘
ARDRITNERZZT_FTF=AHEZZE=ZF
g"i' A +RAZEMKEEAZIHIBHIT

RIB—THFA BETARETER  BRIEZTT
EF&I:E%(fﬂyi‘iikfﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂ’i%lﬁfIKHZEb iBrEm
B TEERETERRMECHEERAE -

R B B2 B SBR AR E R T ERER
MRz X5 AMMmzWmE AR _FT—FF
T AERZAREITRELBE -

RBE_T——F=A=1+—HILFE ' RiTE
HEZ BRI ANTREBRER X5 A
Ptz 2 Y (& o

moT-FEMANAE  BRBHIIEEREA
AREE -

BREFBIN _Z——F_AtREZERLR
AEE-

BREAFERRBR

REBREASINREBH T —ZTF=A=
BRE2BERER $1§7%!1‘9%Hx%0223/%
75 TERAEN R - SR EERAE

/H

jedue]=

1TfE(E -

e B
L)
BEHF

AR 2 B ABRIAT

HARR(E - 0.99% 7T

0.99/8 7T
R 0%
fpaa : 80.99%
B 0.5%

[R B ) 2= 0.17%
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Cont'd)

(b) Fair value of share options and assumptions
(Cont’d)

The fair value of share option granted under the share
option scheme at the grant date on 26 November 2010
was approximately HK$0.119 per share option, which is
calculated using the Binomial Model with the following
inputs:

Grant date share price: HK$0.365
Exercise price: HK$0.382
Dividend yield: 0%

Expected volatility: 78.67%
Expected life: 1.5 years
Risk-free rate: 2.49%

The expected volatility is based on historic volatility based
on publicly available information. Changes in the subjective
input assumptions could materially affect the fair value of
the share options granted.

The fair value of the goods and services received from
person other than employees cannot be estimated reliably.
As a result, the fair value is measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments granted at the date the person
other than employees renders the services.

33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Prior to 1 December 2000, the Group operated a defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme (“Defined
Contribution Scheme”) for its qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme were held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of
an independent trustee. Where there are employees who
leave the Defined Contribution Scheme prior to vesting
fully in the contributions, the amount of the forfeited
contributions would be used to reduce future contributions
payable by the Group.

32. BRI (&)
(b) HBREAFERMER (£)

REBREAFENREBEP T —FTF+—H
“TAREREZBREATEREBNBRED
0.119%87T » HEHM AR AHESH - ZEL
ZEABIEIT

B BHIRR(E - 0.365/67T
1TEME - 0.382/8 7T
AR B Es = 0%
SEEEN 78.67%
TERTFHA - 1.5
R R AE 2.49%

BHRBDERA ARERZERMEH ZE
SERIEME - TEBARIBRRRES A ELA
RO zBREAFEENEATE -

WHOREB AL zmm kRS 2 R FETRER
FlhET - AU AFEDZMARKRATERZIE
EBEALRHREAPZ A FEFE -

33. RABEREE

—ERTFF+ A B ARBSEEFRE
ZaEREBRFETEHUFRKENE ([E
BRG] TS ZEERAKEB ZE
EDRARBA FTREBUEEAFBMERZE
% o B BN R E2 8RB AR B EBHKE
2| - PR MR Z & BB A% P DA R R 7R £2 B R 2R
ARPALSY
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33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME (Cont'd)

Effective from 1 December 2000, the Group has joined a
Mandatory Provident Fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for all
employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the rule of the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to
contribute 5% of the employees’ monthly remunerations
or HK$1,000 per month whichever is the smaller to
the MPF Scheme. The only obligation of the Group
with respect of MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme. No forfeited contribution
is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future
years.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from
the Defined Contribution Scheme and the MPF Scheme
charged to profit or loss represent contributions paid or
payable to the funds by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the schemes.

Employees located in the PRC are covered by the
retirement and pension schemes defined by local practice
and regulations and which are essentially defined
contribution schemes.

During the year, the Group made retirement benefits
scheme contributions of HK$1,391,000 (2010:
HK$1,337,000).

As at 31 March 2011 and 2010, there were no forfeited
contributions, which arose upon employees leaving the
scheme and which are available to reduce the contributions
payable by the Group in the future years.

33. BHRERNE &)

BE-_ZTTTFE+_F—H# KNEBERFE
EAEELE —EARFELAESHE ([BES
TE) - BB NRERGEAE S E
BHIR B E A BEETEEEBEMELR - 8
BertgIz EERAEB 2 EEYHAREE 7
PEBYEEAMEEZ2ES - BiEEES
EIZER REREREASEKEESA
H 5% T A1,0008 T (ABRLEHEE) [
BESFEHR AEERABERETEMER
TZHE—SETANEBREASELMEEZMH
Koo AEEMED R Z HIRA B LURBR R R
REF R 2K -

TE R HKET 8I RORTE 2 5T 81 2 R IRTE M A 81
RERBREF R - AARKEIRT SRR
EELL BB BN 2 HK -

AR E 2 o B NS BRI AR R E 2R
REEZSHE RS AAE LNEERER
it -

KEERN AEBZRKEBFGTEHRA
1,391,000% 7T (= & — & 4 : 1,337,000/
JT) °

R-BE——FER-_FT-—FF=ZA=+—H XK
5 B3 AT R A8 B AR AT 8 M Z £ 3R] A X
R AN SR B PO AR SR BN FE AT PR 2 B IR MR AHEAR
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements, during the year,
the Group had the following transactions with related
parties:

(i) Transactions with a non-controlling
shareholder:

3. BEALRE

BRAFERREMBOFMEREZRS, ER
O REERAFEGSETZHEA TSN
T

(i) BHFERRRZXS:

Name of party Nature of transactions 2011 2010
PSR RHHE —2——% —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$ 000

Dongguan City Qiao Guang
Industrial Group Company

REMBtEXEE QT

Hexh

Rental expense

971 1,106

(i) Transactions with other related companies:

(i) EHHEHMBEEATRZRS:

Name of party Relationship Nature of transactions 2011 2010
NI e REME —E——F —E-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000

FEx THETT

Techford Development
Limited

A company controlled

Rental expense
by a key management & H

personnel
BH— %IEEIE/\E
b2l /N 120 -
Mascotte Investments A company controlled Rental expense
Limited by a key management & H
HHEREBR AT personnel
H—BEEEBEAE
R Z A7 767 862
(i) Compensation of key management personnel (i) TEEEASEHM
The remuneration of directors and other members of key AFEEESEREMEEEBASHMEOT ¢
management during the year was as follows:
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
TR FAT
Short-term benefits 52 BRfE A 12,541 11,736
Post-employment benefits BER 2R A 63 115
Share-based payments KN = 781
12,604 12,632
The remuneration of directors and key executives is EERFETHRABZEFNIFNEZESL2R

determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

BARBRTSBEILETE °
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35. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO)
SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due from (to) subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed repayment term.

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
bills receivables, loan and interest receivables, available-
for-sale financial assets, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, bank balances and cash and other
financial liabilities. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
investments held for trading classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss in the statements
of financial position. The sensitivity analysis has been
determined based on the exposure to equity price risk.

At the end of the reporting period, if the quoted market
prices of the trading securities had been 11% (2070:
17%) higher or lower while all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s net loss would be decreased or
increased by HK$53,000,000 (2070: net profit would be
increased or decreased by HK$58,000,000) as a result of
changes in fair value of investments.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the reasonably possible changes in the stock market index
or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the end of
the reporting period and had been applied to the exposure
to equity price risk in existence at that date. It is also
assumed that the fair values of the Group’s investments
would change in accordance with the historical correlation
with the relevant stock market index or the relevant risk
variables, that none of the Group’s investments would
be considered impaired as a result of a reasonably
possible decrease in the relevant stock market index or
other relevant risk variables, and that all other variables
remain constant. The stated changes represent directors’
assessment of reasonably possible changes in the relevant
stock market index or the relevant risk variables over the
period until the next end of annual reporting period. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2010.

35. W (BN MEBQRRE

Fed (FEFT) MIE A RIFATYEER - 2B R
BB EERHIR -

36. €@ITH
BREREE B EREKE

AEEZETES/HT ABREEWE 55EKE
WOSRIE - AT SRR ERA 2. ﬁitﬂ&ﬁﬁ“

BE - BAVEGFABRR ﬁ%zﬁﬂ‘“ﬁ? RIT
LR kAW EAGE ZEEeMIT ALY
FHEERHEBENEFEE - TXHEHIEZES
MTEEBA AR EOABREZERR 2K
Ko EEEEEE&@_T ZERB - AR KB
B HEEE i o

REEEERE

A& B E RN ISR A D B SIR A FER
ABREIMBEECREEEREELE 2K
AERERR - GURRE DA T B B AdE 2 R
B ER fﬁm 2

¥R & HAHAR - Thi%iz?i%zmt%*&ﬁtﬂi
TEM% (ZF—FF:17%) MEMTEZ
%z HIFIAE AIAEE EBEEFESAKEZ

iﬁ@ﬁrﬁm}jzi $053,000,0005 7T (=
F—FF ;o FIFEE 7 0 2 8 458,000,000
JBor) °

BREPT2EENBRERMIESE 1@1‘@?@
RfeEs s SN REEESNmE R RE L%
o WEHZEHEARZAFEZRAER
Bk ANREIAEEREEEZATFESIR
TFEEHEFA%me?a%Z‘MEF@H % B 8y 2 E S R B
MMt WREAKE ZIRETEE BB
MESEMEERRESH 2 S ER]E TK
ﬁﬁ%ﬁzﬁﬁaﬂfﬁ MEBRABEMEHSERFTT
o DR BB HESTEEBRMIEHIHE
@ﬁﬁgﬂ‘\%%{#EiT F [ 5 HHR R HR
Faﬁz/\ﬁ—fﬁ%ﬁéb EEITR T —FTFI%
[Fl— HLT o
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont’d)

Foreign currency risk

Most of the Group’s business transactions were conducted
in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, Euros and United States
dollars.

36. €®T A (&)
PR EE R REBR (F)

AL 4

AEBABOEBRZHABT - ARK - K
TCRETTHETT

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the TR ASENEEER e EE NN E
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from MABAM s EHREEXBERREHARA
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency FRz B R
indicated below which is different from the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate:
2011 2010
—B-f —T-TF
United States United States
Dollars Euros Renminbi Dollars Euros Renminbi
EY B AR% e BT AE%
(‘000) ("000) ("000) ('000) ('000) ('000)
(Fr) () () (F7) (Fr) (Frt)
Trade and other receivables EWESTER
Hib g 3,397 39 304 3,263 86 =
Bank balances and cash RTRRRAE 848 63 - 687 1,020 -
Trade and other payables EHESFTER
HiERF0R (337) (17) (1,193) (40) - -
Overall net exposure RRERRE 3,908 85 (889) 3910 1,106 -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd) 36. €@TH (©)
Financial risk management objectives and policies MEREEREEEEBEK (&)
(Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis BRE 7T

The following table indicates the approximate change
in the Group’s net loss (2070: net profit) in response to

TRETAEERERN RS
Z AR R B AR B AR KR

5 9 o R 1 M o

?&Eﬁ%éii%’r

reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates B(ZF—FF wHFE) 2BHE
to which the Group has significant exposure at the end of
the reporting period:
2011 2010
—EF——F —ZT-TF
Increase Increase
(decrease) (decrease)
in foreign (Decrease) in foreign Increase
exchange increase exchange (Decrease)
rates in net loss rates in net profit
IMNBER BEFER BN e R S AR
£# (PR Om2>) &0 A (T #hn ORid)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
United States Dollars ETT 1% (302) 1% 302
(1%) 302 (1%) (302)
Euros BT 5% (46) 2% 231
(5%) 46 (2%) (231)
Renminbi AR 4% 42 - —
(4%) (42) - -

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at

RS

EETHRBESNE  DERRJIMEEXZEHE
HHREL  YERARESEEERA

the end of the reporting period and had been applied to £ 3% E]?KEET?E@EEIHZEWH ME—
each of the Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for ) H At 4 21 (jEEIEﬂT) WiISTE - HHBH
financial instruments in existence at the date, and that all HRERETLELE - @D Tﬁﬁ’\ T—FF
other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 1R[E — B AT o

No impact on the other equity reserves is expected. The

analysis is performed on the same basis for 2010.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment Pl EEEREHINEEXEEET —FE
of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates HEHER A ILHAIM 2 & BB A BE & B AT 1E A 5T
over the period until the next end of annual reporting Heomtitkms » NRBBTEET 2BHBEX
period. In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate TeRETHEMEE  BECEMNESH M

between Hong Kong dollar and United States dollar would B|&E
be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in
value of United States dollar against other currencies.

Kﬁ/iﬁﬂ @
e



Mascotte Holdings Limited SHTES£EHGR A7 ® Annual Report 2011 F 3 103

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %r& Bt 78 3R 38 Ml &

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZE—_ZE——F=A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont’d)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties failure to perform their obligations at
the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the
risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in
full when due. Impairment allowances are made for losses
that have been incurred at the end of the reporting period.
Significant changes in the economy, or in the health of a
particular industry segment, could result in losses that are
different from those provided for at the end of reporting
period. Management therefore carefully manages its
exposure to credit risk.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables and loan and interest receivables.

Credit risk attributable to trade and bills receivables

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk on
trade and bills receivables as a substantial portion of its
trade receivables is generated from a limited number of
counterparties and customers respectively. As at 31 March
2011, the top five customers, in term of trade and bills
receivables, of the Group accounted for about 51% (2070:
70%) of the Group’s trade and bills receivables. The Group
manages its credit risk on trade and bills receivables by
closely monitoring the granting of credit period.

36. £®IT A (&)
PR EE B REBR (&)

FEmE

WX ZHEFRREHAHRARERTEEE - A
AEERERCERMBEEMARNHZEA(E
SRR RESUBHRRKRMINZEEENR
HfE e

AEEAZEERR BRXZHFEEBHX
BB IA 2 B o BERETIRE R RS H
HIRELEZEBEREL EELEEREENE
AITRERTRAESSIHARINRESHH
RFrEBZER - Bt - EEEAEEHEEM
HiRZEERR

AEEZEERREIEREBEEBWE SR
FEWE TR A S

JEWE S5 B RENEEE 1S E AR

HRAEE 2 KB D BWE ZKEDRIKER
REEZRXZHUFREP - BASK EHEREK
BEORBRRRERZEEETRR R_-F
——F=ZA=1+—0  sEKREZESFENERK
EEME AEBEZ2AREPOEAEEHE
WESRANEBRRE 251% (ZF—FF:
70%) - AEBF BT ERTZEERERH
RYWESFTENEREEZEERR
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont’d)

Credit risk (Cont’d)
Credit risk attributable to loan and interest receivables

The Group is also exposed to concentration of credit
risk on certain loan and interest receivables. At 31
March 2011, 100% (2010: 100%) of loan and interest
receivables, before impairment allowances, is generated
from the Group’s top three (2070: four) borrowers of the
loan financing segment.

The Group manages its credit risk on loan and interest
receivables through regular analysis of the ability of
borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and
principal repayment obligations and by changing their
lending limits where appropriate. Exposure to credit
risk is also managed in part by obtaining collateral and
corporate and personal guarantees. The Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual debt at end of
each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

Credit risk attributable to bank balances and cash

Although the bank balances and cash held by the Group
are concentrated on certain counterparties, the credit risk
on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are
creditworthy licensed banks.

Credit risk attributable to other receivables

The other receivables mainly comprised of cash held in
brokers’ accounts. Although the cash held in brokers’
accounts are concentrated on certain counterparties,
the credit risk is limited because the counterparties are
creditworthy regulated securities brokers in Hong Kong.

Concentration of amounts due from subsidiaries

As at 31 March 2011, the Company had a concentration
of risk as 75% (2010: 59%) and 94% (2010: 98%) of the
total amounts due from the Company’s largest subsidiary
and three largest subsidiaries respectively.

Other than the above, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties.

36. £®IT A (&)
M EREE B RERRK (&)

FEREE (&)
JERE R EWF)EEN1Z ERR

AEBNMERETERERRERFEZEE
SRR R -_ZE—F=A=1+—H " 100%
—E—ZFF 100%) 2EWE R K EWF B
(FMBRRERERN) REALEEERBRENI B
ZR(ZE—ZFF : [OX) BFRA

AEBETVEBERDTERARBEERAE
BNERAEZENRABBAEERE (FEE

EEHERKERMEKAE 2 EERR - K&
B EARFERBMAG REARRERER
MOEERR - AEBEENE HE MR
BRERMEE 2 AT @ & 58 - AFEGR B AT U
B RIR 1 th B SR (E B 1] o

RITAF RE 2 LIS BRI

BEREBFHE BTABRESERRE
FREUF  BERISYUFARBREZE
IR FETAE SHEERBRAR -

E 1t fEW IR B 15 B R

HthEWHRETIEZERERNELEPFAZR
T BENRBLEPHEZHEETRETY
FEARBFRERAZAEEEXRERFE
i AitEERBRER -

JEH 1B 22 A IR A E

RZEBE—F=ZA=1+—H  xRaEKEER
AKMBRAR R =ZAKB AR ZAEKRRIEAZR
MEREDRNAIS% (ZFE—FF :59%) &
4% (ZF—FF :98%) °

B EXCPTatt &SN - AR AKENRZ ZHFHH
RZ o MUY BEEREEETER -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont’d)

Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk of the Group is controlled by maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents.

The table below analyses the Group’s and the Company’s
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the end of reporting period to
the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows:

The Group
rEE PN
On demand or within 1 year

BERFAR-FAHEE

36. £®IT A (&)
MEEEEBFEBE (&)

B EZEE

AEBEEBERTERERFRNEER - N
ZHIREE SRR o

TRAXREERARRR M BEABIN - ZF
MBREERENGEMMR 2K THEES
WBHEE D /BEREE I BER o TR ATH
BeRARBRAZANRERE

The Company

On demand or within 1 year

BERJAR-FAHEE

2010 2011 2010
—E-—F —EZF —E——F —E-ZF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET FET FA&T
Trade payables FERHE S F08 11,589 9,327 - -
Other payables and H bt 708 &

accrued charges fEETE R 25,516 22,161 10,363 5,088
Margin facilities utilised EHRFREE 526 - 526 -~
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE{S /B A 7K IE = = 60,156 89,191
37,631 31,488 71,045 94,279

Fair value of financial instruments SEMIAEATE

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded in active
markets are determined with reference to quoted market
bid and ask prices. The fair values of other financial assets
and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

ERERRAMEHLE TR S ERE CMBE
ERFBEBEZRAFENE2ERMK 2T HE
EERETE HUMUBEEMMBABEZAY
BEINRBAREERAETE -

EEZRRANEEMBRRANREHKATIRLZ
MBEENRMHABZRMERELQFEREE -



106

Mascotte Holdings Limited F5ET S & E AR AF * Annual Report 2011 53k

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt i R RMIEE
For the year ended 31 March 2011 HEZE—ZT——F=fF=+—HIFE

36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont‘d)

Fair value of financial instruments (Cont’d)

Fair value disclosures

The following presents the carrying value of financial
instruments measured at fair value at 31 March 2011
across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in
HKFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair
value of each financial instrument categorised in its entirety
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to that
fair value measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments;

Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices in
active markets for similar financial instruments, or
using valuation techniques in which all significant
inputs are directly or indirectly based on observable
market data;

Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using
valuation techniques in which any significant input
is not based on observable market data.

36. RTA (#)
SRMIAQFE (&)

AFERE

ATREAFEFESRIAZREER -F
——F A=+ -BUBEMBREERNFET
2@ TR REMKRE <R FE=ERH
2% MBI AZ A FERERKERRR
BMAZBEBEHERNTFEAERERATEFER
DR o PFTSE 2 ARBIEAT

«  E—&3 (BEKI) : WERLBIA
REBRTSHEZEE CREHE) HE
AFAE

s FAM: AEUERIANERMS
P < (B1g - SABERM (EPMEE
RN ARNBUE D ERKEEREATER
ZHSBIE) SAERFE

o F=AR (REMRR) : AKRERM (K
RERE R AR EBIEA I IFRIEA B
RmBEE) STEQFE -

The Group
REE
2011 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
—E——F BsE E—A BRI E=HA #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER THER TR THER
Financial assets at fair BAFEFTA
value through BRRZ
profit or loss: BIREE :
Equity securities, listed BEE 7 FirEzs
in Hong Kong 5 484,825 - - 484,825
Unlisted convertible notes  3E LT Al AR Z= 4% (a) - 61,180 - 61,180
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

Fair value of financial instruments (Cont’d)

36. €T H (&)
SWMIAATE (&)

The Group
rEE
2010 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
—E-ZF BsE E—7 ERI E=4R et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT FAET
Financial assets at fair BAFEFTA
value through BRiRZ
profit or loss: BMBERE :
Equity securities, BB FREzS
listed in Hong Kong el 343,445 = - 343,445
Unlisted convertible notes  FE EMARREE Q) - 14,203 - 14,203
The Company
RATHE
2011 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
—EB——F BaE E— A EZA E= Al st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER TR TR
Financial assets at fair BRAFEFTA
value through BRRZ
profit or loss: MBEE :
Equity securities, Bz LmtgEn
listed in Hong Kong ES 482,807 - - 482,807
Unlisted convertible notes  3E LT Al #ARR =1 (a) - 61,180 - 61,180
The Company
7NN
2010 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
—E-EF BRE F—47l E_RI E=R5 HEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAET
Financial assets at fair BAFEFTA
value through BRiRZ
profit or loss: MBEE :
Equity securities, EEZ FiEm
listed in Hong Kong Fegs) 337,289 - - 337,289
Unlisted convertible notes  JE EMAMAKREE () - 14,203 - 14,203

During the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3
fair value measurements.

(a) The fair value of unlisted convertible notes at the end of
reporting period has been measured by an independent
qualified professional valuer, Asset Appraisal Limited, based
on reliable estimates of prices obtained in actual market
transactions.

RBE_ZT——Fk_FT-—FTF=A=+—H
IFEAR - B—RRIRE —FRl 2Bz RV E
AEWEBRE  BE=-ARzAFEFEITER

(@) FLMABBRERRNHREHHR 2 A FETIHE
VABERERGEMEENEERARARER
BERMSR S ARG 2 Al SEmEfFT AT E -
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37. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to provide returns for shareholders. The Group
manages its capital structure and makes adjustments,
including payment of dividend to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debts. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes during the years ended 31 March
2011 and 2010.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is total of trade payables, other payables and accrued
charges, margin facilities utilised and income tax payable,
net of bank balances and cash divided by the equity
attributable to owners of the parent. The gearing ratio at
the end of the reporting periods was as follows:

37. EXER

AEEMNEAEEBEZRRERNEBGEEE S
B WARRREHEBR AEEEEEALE
WEH AR - BREABREKRMTRE - FKRES
BEARBTHIRNDIEEEENRKEIE -
RBE_T——FK=_FE—ZTF=A=+—H
IHFE - ZEBE  BURSEEFHBEEE -

AEERERNABLRNELERAENR  Z
LR TR E HRIR « E AR IR K ERT
ER CORAREENMENMAEHR AT
RITER KRB SR AR R RIEAR ARBARERRT
B RBEHMRRZERNBBLLRNT

The Group The Company
REE ¥ /N
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF —E——F —ET-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
F#&T FAT FHET T
Trade payables e E 5308 11,589 9,327 - -
Other payables and H A A< FRIE K
accrued charges JEETE B 25,516 22,161 10,363 5,088
Margin facilities utilised EFHRAREE 526 = 526 -
Income tax payable e TS 14,951 12,642 = -
Less: Bank balances and B IRITAERR
cash (note 24) MIRE
(MzE24) (16,805) (75,720) (3,260) (47,104)
35,777 (31,590) 7,629 (42,016)
Equity attributable to [SYNCIEZS PN
owners of the parent JEfh M= 752,654 651,254 677,581 576,739
Gearing ratio BAREBEHR N/A N/A
4.75% TiE 1.12% NE
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38. PROPOSED ACQUISITION

On 31 December 2010, the Company entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with Quinella
International Incorporated (the “Seller”), and Ms Hsieh
(the “Guarantor”) and Dr Wu (the “Covenantor”) to
purchase 50.1% of the entire allotted and issued shares of
Trifecta International Incorporated, renamed to Sun Mass
Energy Limited (the “Target”) for cash consideration of
US$150,000,000. The Target holds 100% equity interest
in Lution International Holdings Co., Ltd (“Lution”) which
holds 100% equity interest of Sun Materials Technology
Co., Ltd (“Sun Materials”) (Collectively, the “Target
Group”). Sun Materials is a limited liability company
incorporated in Taiwan and its principal business is the
manufacture of solar grade polycrystalline silicon. The
completion of the sale and purchase agreement (the
“Completion”) is subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions including the approval by the shareholders at a
special general meeting (“SGM").

On 31 December 2010, the Company entered into a call
option arrangement, which is subject to certain conditions
including the Completion has occurred, with the Seller.
In consideration of the payment of the sum of US$1, the
Seller irrevocably agreed to grant the Company an option
to buy, and to require the Seller to sell, the 4,990,000
option shares (representing 49.9% of the issued shares of
the Target at the date of arrangement), at the Company’s
absolute discretion, during the call option period (i.e.
beginning on the first business day falling 12 months
after the completion of the acquisition and ending on the
first business day falling 36 months after the completion).
Unless the Company and the Seller otherwise agree on the
purchase price, the purchase price for the option shares
shall be determined at the relevant time with reference
to the business valuation of the Target Group by an
independent valuer jointly appointed by the Company and
the Seller or in default of such arrangement, American
Appraisal China Limited, an independent valuer. As at 31
March 2011, no value of the call option was recorded in
the consolidated financial statements since the Completion
has not yet occurred.

38. EEWEEE
RZE—ZFTF+-_HA=+—HB' AQAFH

Quinella International Incorporated ([& 75 ])
Mtz + (ERAD RREL (TRHEAD FT
MY BB - LAIREMR({E150,000,000K THEE
Trifecta International Incorporated (E¥ian 4
ASun Mass Energy Limited) ([BfZ2RQR]])) &
R MEBITRNZ50.1% - BIZAREE
BB ERRDBR AT ([#:1) 100% K4 -
kA LERI RO BRAF (TLEER
1) 100% M4 (S8 [BEEE]) - LSRR
AE—RHReBEIMKIZEREXART  HE
EEBARBEAGEES AL AT BEEHS
Z5eK ([5ERK]) BfFE TERE (BRERRERE
ARE (TREFIARE]) CRERRAE) &
EXEFTAMEER o

R-ZEBE-ZTBF+-A=+—08 AQFHEEH
AV —IEREHELE HAEBSTHTKMYE
(BETKERE) FAIEE - EEI X {M13E
TZRE  BEATAREHFEZERARDRET
HiRE > AT REBHREE (AR URE T E W
NEAZEMEEXBRBETKEMIGMEAZ
BEZXALRAL) RBAARAREZEEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt ¥R RMIEE
For the year ended 31 March 2011 B ZE T ——F=fF=+—HIFE

38. PROPOSED ACQUISITION (Cont'd)

On 17 January 2011, the Company entered into a
placing agreement with Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong
Branch (the “Placing Agent”) for a conditional placing of
placing shares and convertible bonds a view to raising an
aggregate amount of approximately HK$4,000,000,000
for the funding of the proposed acquisition and working
capital of the Target Group etc. On 11 February 2011, 30
March 2011 and 28 June 2011, the Company entered into
supplementary agreements with the Placing Agent to vary
and supplement the terms and conditions of the placing
agreement. In order to facilitate this placing, it is proposed
to increase the authorised share capital of the Company
from HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
shares of HK$0.1 each to HK$2,000,000,000 divided into
20,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each by creating an
additional 10,000,000,000 shares. Both of the placing
and increase in authorised share capital are subject to the
approval by the shareholders at the SGM.

On 7 March 2011, the Company entered into a facility
arrangement, which is subject to certain conditions
including the approval by the shareholders at the SGM,
with the Target. Pursuant to the facility arrangement, the
Company has agreed to lend to the Target a loan facility of
principal amount of up to but not exceeding US$50 million
at any time within 3 months commencing from the date
on which the last in time of the certain conditions in the
facility arrangement satisfied or waived. The facility offers
an interest rate of 12% per annum for the fund of capital
expenditure in respect of the expansion of polysilicon
production capacity of the Target Group. As at 31 March
2011, the facility arrangement was still subject to the
approval by the shareholders at the SGM and accordingly
the facility arrangement was not yet effective.

Subsequent to the reporting period, at the SGM of the
Company held on 7 June 2011, the above-mentioned
agreements/arrangements in connection with the proposed
acquisition of 50.1% of the Target Group were approved
by the shareholders.

38. EERWEEIE (&)
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Financial Summary B #&#1 =

RESULTS ¥E
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
—ZTTLE —TB)\F —TTNF —T-TF —F—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
T FH&TT FH&TT FHEIT T
(restated)
(&%)
Turnover - 232,496 148,455 134,872 241,871 103,373
Profit (loss) before taxation BRF{RT %A (E1E) 14,851 (229,284) (343,832) 110,507 (240,993)
Income tax expenses FriS8iF 2 (4,546) (3,504) (1,458) (1,657) (3,320)
Profit (loss) for the year EEEN (E18) 10,305  (232,788)  (345,290) 108,850  (244,313)
Attributable to: FE1h -
Owners of the parent SRARER A 10,540 (232,808)  (345,273) 108,631 (244,800)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR FE A (235) 20 (17) 219 487
10,305  (232,788)  (345,290) 108,850  (244,313)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHAE
At 31 March
R=A=+—8H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
—FELF —TEN\F —_TENF —TFTF ZB——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FH&TT F&T FH&TT FH&TT FET
Total assets BERE 345,222 650,445 393,070 699,090 810,187
Total liabilities BERmE (105,669) (40,924) (33,349) (44,172) (53,217)
239,553 609,521 359,721 654,918 756,970
Equity attributable to HAREAA
owners of the parent JEfGHE R 236,515 606,121 356,276 651,254 752,654
Non-controlling interests FEFE I R = 3,038 3,400 3,445 3,664 4,316
239,553 609,521 359,721 654,918 756,970

2008 turnover figure has been restated to present (i)
interest income from loan receivables and (ii) net gains
or losses from the sales of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (but not the proceeds from the
sales of investments previously presented as turnover) as
components of turnover.

“ T N\FEERUTFTRDEY U2 ()
EWERF B WA R (i) HERQAFET AR
ke WHEE W ERFE (BETEHE
BENEXBERLEREMSTIA) ER
SERBHN 8D o
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Particulars of Investment Properties IR & ¥ £ 515

Location

I B

Lease term

Gk

Group’s interest Type

REE B =5l

PEOPLE’S REPUBLIC OF CHINA
PEARANER

A portion of the factory complex
situated at Lot No. 14-03-129
Hui Shan Expressway

Pingtan Town

Huiyang County

Huizhou

Guangdong Province

BRE

HM

FER

Bl@ERAE

14-03-1295%
HER 2 THARE
EEMER S

Units 1502 and 1503 on level 15
Pacific Trade Building

Jia Bin Road

Shenzhen

Guangdong Province

BRE

YT

REIK

KEFEBEAE
15#1502 % 1503F

Medium-term lease

R EARE A

Medium-term lease

R EAREAY

90% Commercial

CES

100% Commercial

[GE



MASCOTTE HOLDINGS LIMITED
SHBSEHIRAD



	封面

	目錄
	公司資料
	主席報告
	管理層討論及分析
	董事及高層管理人員簡介
	企業管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合全面收入報表
	綜合財務狀況表
	財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務概要
	投資物業詳情
	封底


